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International Royalty Corporation

Consolidated Financial Statements
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004
(unaudited, expressed in U.S. dollars)




International Royalty Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

. (unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)-

September 30,
2005 December 31,
_ (unaudited) 2004
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,262 § 811
Short-term investments 1,708 -
Restricted cash (note 4) 1,799 -
Royalty receivable 108 97
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 210 1
17,087 909
Royalty interests in mineral properties (hote 3) 236,051 1,747
Furniture and equipment 129 6
Other assets (note 5) 2376 840
$255,643 $3,502
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 313 $ 744
Senior secured debentures (note 6) 21,105 -
Future income taxes (note 9) 73,686 -
Shareholders’ Equity (note 7)
Common shares
Authorized
Unlimited common shares without par value
Issued
57,012,783 (2004 — 5,849,433) common shares 164,185 2,058
Special warrants - 1,478
Warrants and options 4,946 80
Deficit (8,592) (858)
160,539 2,758
$255,643 $3,502

Nature of business and basis of presentation (note 1)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



International Royalty Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficit

(unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share data)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Royalty revenues $ 107 $ 73 $ 312 $ 261
Expenses
Amortization 92 58 274 208
Business development expense 144 - 205 -
General and administrative 558 128 1,647 380
Impairment of royalty interests in mineral
properties 64 - 64 -
Stock-based compensation expense (note 7) - - 4867 %)
858 186 7,057 680
Loss from operations (751) (113) (6,745) (419
Other income (expense)
Foreign currency gain (loss) (409) 9 (361) 3
Interest expense (543) - (1,273) -
Interest income 109 - 261 -
(843) 9 (1,373) 3
Loss be fore income taxes (1,594) (104) (8,118) (416)
Income tax benefit 466 - 384 -
Loss for the period (1,128) (104) (7,734 (416)
Deficit at beginning of period (7,464) _(525) ~ (85%) (213)
Deficit at end of period $(8,592) $(629) $(8,592) $(629)
Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.02) $(0.01) $ (0.16) $(0.05)
Basic and diluted weighted average
common shares outstanding 57,011,628 8,308,000 47,503,192 8,308,000

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



International Royalty Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Cash flows from (used by) operating
activities ‘
Loss for the period $ (1,128 $(104) $  (7,734) $(416)
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation and amortization 08 59 284 211
Impairment of royalty interests in mineral ‘
properties 64 - 64 -
Amortization of deferred debenture costs 49 - 116 -
Accretion of debenture discount 147 - 343 -
Future ncome tax benefit (473) - (391) -
Non-cash foreign currency (gain) loss 1,111 (5 1,192 2)
Stock-based compensation expense - - 4,867 92
(132) (50) (1,259) (115)
Changes in non-cash working capital
(Increase) decrease in royalty receivable (11) 25 (10) 27
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other
current assets 3 29) (205) (34
Decrease in other assets 7 - ) -
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities (467) 62 171 61
(600) 8 (1,301) (61)
Cash flows from (used by) investing activities
Acquisition of royalty interests in mineral properties (322) - (125,558) -
Acquisition of fumiture and equipment (55) - (132) -
Deferred charges related to royalty acquisitions ‘ (40) (26) (64) (26)
Investment in short-term investments (1,708) - (1,708) -
(Investment in) redemption of restricted cash 600 - (1,713) -
(1,525) (26) (129,175) (26)
Cash flows from (used by) financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of common shares @) . 120,640 -
Net proceeds from unit offering (4) - 22,287 -
1 - 142,927 -
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (2,136) (18) 12,451 (87)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of _
period : 15,398 135 811 204
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period ~ § 13262 $§ 117 § 13262 $ 117

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

1

Nature of business and basis of presentation

International Royalty Corporation (“IRC” or the “Company’) was incorporated under the laws of Yukon,
Canada on May 7, 2003 and was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on November
12, 2004. It was formed for the purpose of acquiring and creating natural resource royalties with a
specific emphasis on mineral royalies.

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not
include all of the information and notes to the consolidated financial statements required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004. In the opinion
of management, all adjustments considered necessary for fair presentation have been included.

The information contained in these interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended
September 30, 2004 has not been audited or reviewed by the Company’s independent auditor. '

New Accounting Policies

The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared following the same accounting policies
and methods of computation as the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2004, with the exception of the following:

Variable Interest Entities

The Company has adopted Accounting Guideline 15 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIE)”
effective January 1, 2005, whereby the guideline requires the consolidation of VIE’s by the primary
beneficiary; the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, expected
residual returns, or both. The adoption of Accounting Guideline 15 has not had a material impact on the
Company.

Deferred financing charges

Financing costs related to the issuance of senior secured debentures are deferred and amortized to interest
expense over the six year term of the related debt using the effective yield method.

Senior Secured Debentures
Proceeds from the Unit Offering (note 6) were allocated into debt and equity components based upon
their respective fair market values. The carrying value of the Senior Secured Debentures are being
accreted to their maturity value through charges to interest expense over the term of the Debentures based
on the effective yield method.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments, all of which are categorized as available for sale, are carried at the lower of cost
or market



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements -
September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

3

Royalty interests in mineral properties

Net Balance at Net Balance
December 31, September 30,
(in thousands of US$) 2004 Additions Impairments Amortization 2005
Production stage:
Williams Mine $1,747 $ - § - $(273) $ 1474
Development stage:
Voisey’s Bay Royalty ® - 225726 - - 225,726
Exploration stage: ‘
Aviat One @ - 2211 - - 2,211
Belahouro - 817 - - 817
Pinson © - 512 - - 512
Other @®©@@®© - 5,376 (64) (1) 5311
- 8,916 (64) (1) 8,851
$1,747 $234,642 § (64) $(274) $236,051

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

On January 10, 2005, the Company acquired royalty interests on the Pinson gold and the Hasbrouck
Mountain gold-silver deposits, both in Nevada, United States, from John Livermore for cash
consideration of $520,000.

On February 22, 2005, IRC completed separate agreements with two individuals for the purchase of
100% of the common shares of Archean Resources Ltd. (“Archean’), which owns 90% of a 3% net
smelter return royalty on the Voisey’s Bay property, located in northern Labrador, Canada. Total
consideration paid was CA$184.3 million, consisting of CA$152.5 million in cash and 7,395,349
common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”), valued at the Company’s initial public
offering (“1PO”) price of CA$4.30 per Common Share. In accordance with EIC-124, “Definition of
a Business”, the transaction has been accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and the full cost of
the transaction has been allocated to the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. See note 9 “future income tax
adjustment”. ‘

On February 22, 2005, the Company acquired from Hecla Mining Company a portfolio of 14 mineral
royalty interests. Total consideration paid was $550,000 in Common Shares valued at the IPO
offering price of CA$4.30.

On February 22, 2005, the Company acquired from the Hunter Exploration Group a portfolio of 17
gross override royalty interests in approximately 20 million acres of lands located in Nunavut
Temtory in Canada that are presently the subject of diamond exploration activities (the “Hunter
Portfolio™). Total consideration paid was CAS$S million in Common Shares valued at CA$4.30, the
offering price of the IPO. See note 9 “future income tax adjustment”.

On November 15, 2004, the Company signed a letter agreement with BHP Billiton Worldwide
Exploration Inc. (“BHPB”) (as superseded by a definitive agreement dated March 18, 2005) to
acquire a mineral portfolio of 22 royalty interests for total consideration of $605,000 to be paid in
cash and $625,000 in Common Shares valued at the offering price of the IPO of CA$4.30, equal to
180,189 Common Shares. On March 30, 2005, all of the Common Shares were issued and placed



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
. September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

into escrow pending the close of the transaction. On April 19, 2005, the Company completed the
purchase of 14 royalties from BHPB for all o the Common Shares and $65,000. The shares are
subject to a four month hold period expiring August 19, 2005. An additional 5 royalties were closed
on May 2, 2005 for consideration of $§510,000. The acquisition of the three remaining royalties for
$30,000 is expected to be completed in the near future.

Pending royalty acquisition

On December 7, 2004, the Company signed a letter agreement with David Fawcett (superseded by a
royalty purchase agreement dated February 22, 2005) to acquire 20.3% of a 1% royalty interest on four
coal licenses in British Columbia for total consideration of CA$312,500 in cash and CA$937,500 in
Common Shares valued at the offering price of the IPO of CA$4.30. Pursuant to an agreement dated
February 22, 2005, the cash and 218,023 Common Shares were placed in escrow pending receipt of
executed royalty assignment agreements from the property owner, Western Canadian Coal Corp.
(“Western). The value of the Common Shares has been included in other assets at September 30, 2005
and will be transferred to royalty interest in mineral properties upon closing of the transaction.

On March 21, 2005, Westem filed a petition with the Supreme Court of British Columbia to have the
underlying royalty sharing agreement set aside. The Company has reviewed the petition and supporting
affidavits filed by Western and believes that the position taken by Western is without merit.

4 Restricted cash

‘ Restricted cash consisted of the following (in thousands of US$):
September 30, December 31,
2005 2004
Cash in escrow for the payment of interest on the Debentures

(note 6) » $1,407 $ -

Cash in escrow for the purchase of the David Fawcett royalties
(note 3) 267 -
Other 125 -
$1,799 $ -

5§ Other assets
Other assets consisted of the following (in thousands of US$):

September 30, December 31,

2005 2004
Deferred amounts related to pending royalty acquisitions (note 3) ¥ 830 $ 840
Financing costs related to issuance of the Debentures, net of
amortization of $116 (note 6) 1,529 -
Other ' 17 -
$£2,376 $840




International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

6

Senior secured debentures

On February 22, 2005, the Company completed a “Unit Offering” for gross proceeds of CA$30 million.
The Unit Offering consisted of CA$30 million of 5.5% senior secured debentures (the “Debentures”) due
February 22, 2011 and 1,395,360 Common Shares. The obligations of the Company under the
Debentures are secured by a general security agreement over all of the assets of the Company relating to
the Voisey’s Bay Royalty.

Interest on the Debentures is payable semi-annually, on February 28 and August 31, with principal due at
maturity. Under the terms of the Debentures, the first three semi-annual interest payments were withheld
and placed into an escrow account and the first interest payment was paid from this account on August
31, 2005. The value of the Common Shares issued of $4.9 million has been recorded as a discount to the
Debentures and will be amortized over the life of the Debentures using the effective yield method.
Details of the balance at September 30, 2005 are as follows:

(8 in thousands) ' : CAS USS

Senior secured debentures payable ‘ $30,000 $25,626

Discount (5,293) (4,521)
$24,707 $21,105

The Company’s contractual obligations for future principal payments under the terms of the Debentures
are summarized as follows:

Year (8 in thousands)”

2005 $ -
2006 -
/2007 ‘ -
2008 ' 1 -
2009 -
Thereafter ‘ 25,626

Total , $25,626

o The obligation is denominated in CAS$. All amounts were converted to US$ equivalents using an

exchange rate of US$1.00 to CA$1.1707.



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements.
September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

7  Shareholders’ equity

Common Shares issued and outstanding were as follows:

(in thousands of US$) Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 ; 5,849,433 $ 2,058
Exercise of initial ﬁnancmg special warrants 2,550,000 1,319
Exercise of compensation special warrants 308,000 159
Exercise of warrants 2,125 2
Shares issued in connection with the IPO (net of issuance
costs) 34,883,721 114,716
Shares issued in connection with the Unit Offering (net
of issuance costs) 1,395,360 4,588
Shares issued for the purchase of royalty interests in
mineral properties (net of issuance costs)‘ 8,896,895 31,015
Shares issued for services 2,249 8
Issuance of over-allotment shares 2,906,977 9,560
Shares issued into escrow 218,023 760
Balance at September 30, 2005 57,012,783 $164,185

Activity in special warrants:

Special
(in thousands of US$) Warrants Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 2,858,000 $ 1,478
Exercise of initial financing special warrants (2,550,000) (1,319)
Exercise of compensation special warrants (308,000) (159)
Balance at September 30, 2005 - $

Activity in warrants and stock options was as follows:

Warrants and

(in thousands of USS§) stock options Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 1,940,568 $ 80
Stock options issued 3,000,000 4,867
Warrants exercised (2,125) €))
Balance at September 30, 2005 4,938,443 $4.946

Initial public offering

On February 22, 2005, the Company completed its IPO of 37,790,698 (including the agents’ exercise of
the over-allotment option on March 4, 2005) Common Shares at CA$4.30 per Common Share for gross
proceeds of CAS$162.5 million Proceeds received from the IPO and the Unit Offering, and uses of
proceeds are outlined as follows: |



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements

‘ September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

(in thousands of US$) CAS US$
Gross proceeds from the IPO ‘ $ 162,500 $ 131,659
Gross proceeds from the Unit Offering ‘ 30,000 24,321
Agents’ commission and estimated expenses of offering (16,336) (13,181)
176,164 142,799

Acquisition of Archean '@ (153,024) (124,056)
Funds deposited in escrow ‘ (2,475) (2,006)
Net proceeds to the Company $ 20,665 $ 16,737

USee note 3 “Royalty interests in mineral properties”.
®Includes costs of acquisition.

Stock options

During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the Company issued 3,000,000 stock options to its
directors, officers and employees. The stock options were at a weighted average exercise price of
CA$4.33 per share and were vested immediately at the time of issuance.

The Company uses the fair value based method of accounting for all stock-based compensation awards.
The fair value of the stock options has been estimated at $4,867,000 using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model with the following assumptions:

. Risk free interest rate 3.6%
Expected dividend yield 0.0%
Expected price volatility of the Company’s common
shares 60%
Expected life of the option 3.5 years
Weighted average fair value per stock option $1.62

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected price
volatility. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and
therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the

Company’s stock options.

8 Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(in thousands of US$) 2005 2004 2005 2004
Future income taxes in royalty interest in

mineral properties (note 9) % - $ - $77,954 $-
Future income tax benefit relating to

issuance costs included in common

shares (note 9) 1 - (3,878) -
Shares issued for the acquisition of royalty

interests in mineral properties and for

services - - 31,022 -
Shares i1ssued to escrow - - 760 -



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
September 30, 2005 (unaudited)

9  Future income tax adjustment

The Company has recorded an adjustment to the purchase price of the Archean acquisition (Voisey’s Bay
Royalty) and the Hunter Portfolio to reflect the fact that the Company has no amortizable basis in these
assets for Canadian income tax purposes. The effect of the adjustments is to increase the value of the
respective royalty interests and to record an offsetting adjustment to future income taxes. These
adjustments will have no impact on either past or future cash flows of the Company. Recording of the
future income tax liability has also resulted in the recognition of tax benefits related to the Company’s tax
net operating losses, and certain expenses of the IPO and the Unit Offering. Details of the balance in
future income taxes at September 30, 2005 were as follows:

(in thousands of US$)
Adjustment to royalty interest in mineral properties $77.954
Adjustment to common shares to reflect the tax deductibility of

expenses of the offering (3,335)
Royalty interest amortization 252
Discount on senior secured debentures 818
Net operating losses ‘ (2,015)
Other, net 12

$73,686

10 Subsequent Event

On November 9, 2005 the Board of Directors authorized the issuance of an additional 978,000 stock
options to the Company’s directors, officers and employees. The stock options have an exercise price of
CAS$3.75 and will vest over three years.
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This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of financial position and results of operatlons of A
International Royalty Corporation the “Company” or “IRC”) has been prepared based on mfbrmat:on S
available to the Company as of November 9, 2005 and should be read in conjunction with the Companyls» 4 .
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto as of and for the nine months ended September DEERARI
30, 2005, and in conjunction with the MD&A and consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2004. All amounts are in U.S. dollars unless specifically stated otherwise.

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s annual information form is
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

This document contains certain forward looking statements. These statements relate to future events or
future performance and reflect management’s exp ectations regarding the Company’s growth, results of
operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. Such forward-looking statements reflect
management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management. In some
cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”,

“expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate™, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “target” or the
negative of these terms or other comparable termmology A number of factors could cause actual events or
results to differ materially from the results discussed in various factors, which may cause actual results to
differ materially from any forward-looking statement. Although the forward-looking statements contained
in this management discussion and analysis are based upon what management believes to be reasonable
assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this document, and the
Company assumes no obligation to update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances.

M < CEIY CTRRTS CLINY3 3%

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY INFORMATION:

. Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
(8 thousands, except per share data) September 30, September 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Statement of Operations :
Royalty revenues $107 $73 $312 $261
Amortization of royalty interest in
mineral properties $92 $58 $274 $208
Gross profit from royalties $15 $15 $38 $53
General and administrative $558 5128 $1,647 $380
Net loss $(1,128) $(104) $(7,734) $(416)
Basic and diluted loss per share $(0.02) $(0.01) $(0.16) $(0.05)
Statement of Cash Flows |
Cash provided from (used in)
operating activities $(600) 38 $(1,301) $(61)

September 30, December 31,

2005 2004
Balance Sheet
Total assets $255,643 $3,502
Shareholders equity $160,539 $2,758



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Overall

The Company’s profile has changed dramatically during 2005 with the successful completion of its initial
public offering (“IPO”} on February 22, 2005, raising gross proceeds of CA$162,500,000 on the sale of
37,790,698 common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”). The Company also raised an additional
CA$30,000,000 in gross proceeds through the sale of units (the “Unit Offering™), consisting of 1,395,360
Common Shares and CA$30,000,000 in senior secured debentures. The proceeds were used for the indirect
acquisition of the Voisey’s Bay royalty and : other royalties as further described in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

During 2004, all of IRC’s executives and employees were on a part-time basis and/or were paid reduced
salaries in order to preserve our cash resources. In addition, IRC’s directors were paid no fees during 2004
and professional fees were kept to a minimum. With the completion of the IPO, all current employees are
now being paid their stated salaries, and additional employees have been hired to accommodate the
increased demands of a public company, and to assist the Company in the identification, assessment and
acquisition of new royalty opportunities. We have added new directors, and have begun to pay our outside
directors fees comparable to those of companies similar to IRC. Professional fees, filing and listing fees,
printing and mailing costs, insurance, and other costs associated with being a public company have
increased as a result of our IPO. In addition, the Company’s larger cash position and senior secured
debentures have resulted in an increase in interest income and interest expense during 2005 compared to
prior pertods.

Quarter ended September 30, 2005 compared to the quarter ended September 30, 2004

Loss before income taxes for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 was $1,594,000 or $0.03 per share
compared to a loss of $104,000 or $0.01 per share for the quarter ended September 30, 2004. General and
administrative expenses increased by $430,000 to $558,000 during the quarter ended September 30, 2005,
compared to the quarter ended September 30, 2004. Salaries and benefits increased by $124,000 to
$217,000 due to the full time salaries and larger staff as described above. Investor relations costs were
$98,000 during the quarter compared to $nil during the same period of 2004. Legal, accounting and other
professional fees accounted for %2,000 of the increase, as the company required assistance with its
ongoing filing and compliance requirements, and also with tax preparation and planning issues. Other
general and administrative increases during the period included directors’ fees, $19,000; insurance expense,
$33,000; listing, filing and transfer fees of $8,000; printing and reproduction, $13,000; travel and
entertainment costs, $15,000 and; general office costs of approximately $29,000. During the quarter ended
September 30, 2005, business development expense was $144,000 and impairment losses were $64,000,
compared to $nil for the same period in 2004. In 2005, IRC incurred $543,000 of interest expense during
the quarter related to the senior secured debentures, and also earned $109,000 of interest income from
investment of excess cash and restricted cash compared to $nil in the previous year. The Company also
incurred a foreign currency loss of $409,000 during the quarter due to the strengthening of the Canadian
dollar, consisting of a loss of $1,200,000 on the senior secured debentures, partially offset by a gain of
approximately $800,000 from cash, short-term investments, and restricted cash held in Canadian Dollar
denominated accounts .

Nine months ended September 30, 2005 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2004

Loss before income taxes for the nine months endf:d September 30, 2005 was $8,118,000 or $0.17 per share
compared to a loss of $416,000 or $0.05 per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. During
2005, IRC issued 3,000,000 stock options to its directors, officers and employees, resulting in a charge of
$4,867,000 to stock-based compensation expense during the period, compared to $92,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2004. General and administrative expenses increased by $,267,000 to
$1,647,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2005, compared to $380,000 in the same period in
2004. Lepgal accounting and other professional fees accounted for $45,000 of the increase, as the
company required assistance with its ongoing fling and compliance requirements, tax preparation and



planning issues, and also with the implementation of its shareholders’ rights plan. Salaries and benefits
increased by $375,000 also due to the full time salaries and larger staff previously described. Investor
relations costs were $146,000 during the quarter compared to $nil during the same period of 2004. The
Company had its first annual meeting during 2005, contributing to an increase in travel and entertainment
costs of approximately $91,000, and printing costs of $32,000. Other increases included directors’ fees,
$53,000; insurance expense, $82,000; listing, filing and transfer fees of $36,000 and; general office costs of
approximately $60,000. Business development expenses were $205,000 during the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 compared to $nil in 2004 and impairment of royalty interests in mineral properties was
$64,000, compared to $nil in 2004. The Company incurred $,273,000 of interest expense during the
period related to the senior secured debentures, and also earned $261,000 of interest income from
investment of excess cash and restricted cash compared to $nil in the previous year. The Company also
incurred a foreign currency loss of $361,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2005, due to a
stronger Canadian dollar, consisting primarily of a loss of $1,305,000 on the senior secured debentures,
partially offset by a gain of approximately $941,000 from cash, short-term investments, and restricted cash
held in Canadian Dollardenominated accounts.

Revenue and operations

During the quarter ended September 30, 2005, royalty revenues increased to $107,000 from $73,000 in the
same quarter of 2004, due to an increase in number of ounces paid during the quarter from 73,201 to
95,897 in combination with an increase in the average price of gold from $402 in 2004 t0 $439 in 2005.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, royalty revenues increased to $312,000 from $261,000
during the same period in 2004, partiaily due to an increase in ounces produced at the Williams mine

during the period and also due to an increase in the average price of gold from $400 in 2004 to $431 in
2005.

Amortization is computed based upon the units of production method over the life of the mineral reserves
of the underlying the property. At December 31, 2004, the Williams mine operator adjusted the estimated
reserves of the mine downward by approximately 18% from its previous estimate. This will result in an
increased rate of amortization over the remaining life of the Williams mine royalty and a corresponding
reduction in gross profit from the royalty. Amortization on mineral properties increased from $58,000 for
the quarter ended September 30, 2004 to $92,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2005. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2005, amortization was £74,000 compared to $£08,000 during the same
period in 2004. These increases were primarily due to the increased rate of amortization described above
and also due to the increase in ounces produced at the Williams mine during 2005 as described above.

FINANCIAL POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Operating Cash Flow

Cash used in operating activities, before changes to non-cash working capital items was $132,000 during
the quarter ended September 30, 2005 compared to $50,000 during the quarter ended September 30, 2004.
Cash general and administrative expenses increased by $425,000 during 2005, due to the increased costs
described above. Cash interest expense was $347,000 and business development expenses were $144,000
during the quarter ended September 30, 2005, compared to $nil in the same period a year ago. These
decreases were offset by interest income of $109,000, a cash foreign currency gain of $702,000 compared
to $4,000 in the 2004 period, and an increase in royalty revenues of $34,000.

Cash used in operating activities, before changes to non-cash working capital items was $1,259,000 during
the nine months ended September 30, 2005 compared to $115,000 during the same period in 2004. Cash
general and administrative expenses increased by 31,260,000 during 2005, due to the increased costs
previously described. Cash interest expense was $814,000 during 2005 and $il in 2004. Business
development expenses were $205,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2005, compared to 3nil
in the same period a year ago. These decreases were offset by interest income of $261,000, a cash foreign



currency gain of 831,000 compared to $,000 in the 2004 period, and increased royalty revenues of
$51,000.

Investing Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, IRC acquired the Voisey’s Bay royalty for cash
consideration of $124.1 million, and additional royalty portfolios from John Livermore, Hecla Mining
Company, the Hunter Explomation Group and BHP Billiton Worldwide Exploration Inc. for total cash
consideration of $1.4 million. IRC also has invested a total of $1.7 million into restricted cash during the
period, including $1.4 million into an interest escrow for the senior secured debentures and $0.3 million in
escrow for the completion of a pending royalty acquisition. The Company also invested approximately
$1.7 million in short-term investments during September 2005.

Financing Activities

On February 22, 2005, the Company comip leted its IPO of 37,790,698 (including the exercise of the over
allotment option on March 4, 2005) Common Shares at CA$4.30 per Common Share for gross proceeds of
CA$162,500,000. Coincident with the IPO, the Company also completed a “Unit Offering” for gross
proceeds of CA$30,000,000. The Unit Offering consisted of CA$30,000,000 of 5.5% senior secured
debentures (the “Debentures”™) due February 22, 2011 and 1,395,360 Common Shares. Gross proceeds
received are summarized as follows:

(3 in thousands) CAS USS$
Gross proceeds from the IPO ] 162,500 131,659
Gross proceeds from the Unit Offering 30,000 24,321
Agents’ commission and expenses of offering (16,336) (13,181)
Net proceeds : 176,164 142,799

Cash Resources and Liquidity

The Company had a cash position of $13.3 million at September 30, 2005 and working capital of $16.8
million, an increase of $12.4 million and $16.6 million respectively from December 31, 2004. The large
increase during the year is a result of the Company’s completion of its IPO and the Unit Offering during the
period, reduced by expenditures for the acquisition of the mineral royalties described above.

The Company’s near-term cash requirements are limited to general and administrative, and business
development expenses. As a royalty company, there are no requirements for exploration, feasibility,
development or capital expenditures. Royalty acquisitions are discretionary in nature and will be
consummated through the use of cash, as available, or through the issuance of Common Shares.

The Company believes that cash available at September 30, 2005 will be sufficient to cover the cost of
general and administrative expenses at least through 2006. In addition, the Company will continue to

receive royalty income from the Williams Royalty during the remainder of 2005 and future years. With the
commencement of the Voisey’s Bay mine and the corresponding revenue to be received from the Voisey’s

Bay Royalty, anticipated in early 2006, the Company expects to have sufficient cash flow to meet all of its
cash needs into the foresecable future. ‘



The Company’s contractual obligations for future payments are summarized as follows:

(8 in thousands ) Minimum Debenture Total
Lease Principal Contractual
Year Obligations Obligations Obligations
2005 $ 8 § - b 8
2006 - 46 ) 46
2007 48 - 48
2008 1 51 - 51
2009 - 7) - 52
Thereafter 45 25,626 25,671
Total . $250 $25,626 $25.876

® The obligation is denominated in CA$. All amounts were converted to US$ equivalents

using an exchange rate of US$1.00 to CA$1.1707.
Financial Position

The Company has recorded an adjustment to the purchase price of the Archean acquisition (Voisey’s Bay
Royalty) and its Hunter Royalty Portfolio to reflect the fact that the Company has no amortizable basis in
these assets for Canadian income tax purposes. The effect of the adjustments is to increase the value of the
respective royalty interests and to record an offsetting adjustment to future income taxes. This adjustment
will have no impact on either past or future cash flows of the Company. Recording of the future income
tax liability has also resulted in the recognition of tax benefits related to the Company’s tax net operating
losses, and certain expenses of the IPO and the Unit Offering. Details of the balance in future income taxes
at September 30, 2005 are as follows:

(in thousands of §) 1
Adjustment to royalty interest in mineral properties $77,954
Adjustment to common shares to reflect the tax deductibility of expenses of

the offering (net) (3,335)
Royalty interest amortization 252
Discount on senior secured debentures ‘ 818
Net operating losses (2,015)
Other, net 12

$73,686

On November 9, 2005 the Board of Directors authorized the issuance of an additional 978,000 stock
options to the Company’s directors, officers and employees. The stock options have an exercise price of
CAS$3.75 and will vest over three years.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates by a material amount.

Management’s estimate of mineral prices, operators’ estimates of proven and probable reserves related to
the underlying royalty properties and operators’ estimates of operating, capital and reclamation costs upon
which the Company relies, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. These estimates affect revenue
recognition, amortization of royalty interests in mineral properties and the assessment of recoverability of



the royalty interests in mineral properties. The estimated fair values of stock options require the input of
highly subjective assumptions including the expected price volatility. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of the stock options. Although management has
made its best assessment of these factors based upon current conditions, it is possible that changes could
occur, which could materially affect the amounts contained in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company.

Royalty Revenue

Royalty revenue is recognized when management can estimate the payable production from mine
operations, when the underlying price is determinable, when collection is reasonably assured and pursuant
to the terms of the royalty agreements. In practice, management has used a rolling average of royalty
receipts to estimate future receipts. Differences between estimates of royalty revenue and the actual
amounts are adjusted and recorded in the period in which the amounts of the differences are known. In
some instances (i.e. a new operation), the Company will not have access to sufficient current or historical
information regarding payable production to make a reasonable estimate of revenue. In these instances,
revenue recognition is deferred until the Company can make a reasonable estimate and will generally be
recorded on a cash basis until sufficient history is available to make a reasonable estimate.

Amortization of Royalty Interests in Mineral Properties

Acquisition costs of production and development-stage royalty interests are amortized using the units of
production method over the life of the mineral property, which is estimated using only proven and probable
reserves. Adjustments to payable production from mine operations, as discussed in the paragraph above,
would result in a corresponding adjustment to the amortization of the acquisition costs.

Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverability of the carrying value of royalty
interests in production and development stage mineral properties is evaluated based upon estimated future
undiscounted net cash flows from each royalty interest using available estimates of proven and probable
reserves.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of royalty interests n exploration stage
mineral properties in the event of significant decreases in the price of the underlying mineral, and whenever
new information regarding the mineral property is obtained from the operator that could affect the future
recoverability of the royalty interest.

Impairments in the carrying value of each royalty interest are measured and recorded to the extent that the
carrying value in each royalty interest exceeds its estimated fair value, which is calculated using future
discounted cash flows, in accordance with the new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA™)
Handbook Section 3063 “Impairment of Long-lived Assets”, which the Company adopted effective January
1, 2004. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the comparative consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with the requirements of CICA Handbook
Section 3870 “Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments” whereby the fair value of
awards to both employees and non-employees are recognized as an expense. Compensation expense for
options and warrants granted are determined based on estimated fair values of the options and the warrants
at the time of grant, the cost of which is recognized over the vesting period of the respective options and
warrants.



NEW ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Short-term Investments

Short-term investments, all of which are categorized as available for sale, are carried at the lower of costor
market.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company has adopted Accounting Guideline 15 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIE)”
effective January 1, 2005, whereby the guideline requires the consolidation of VIE’s by the primary
beneficiary; the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, expected
residual retumns, or both. The adoption of Accounting Guideline 15 has not had a material impact on the
Company.

Deferred financing charges

Financing costs related to the issuance of the Debentures are deferred and amortized over the six year term
of the related debt using the effective yield method.

Senior Secured Debentures

Proceeds from the Unit Offering were allocated into debt and equity components based upon their
respective fair market values. The carrying value of the Debentures is being accreted to their maturity
value through charges to interest expense over the term of the Debentures based on the effective yield
method.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Comprehensive Income

CICA Handbook Section 1530 — Comprehensive Income introduces new standards for reporting and
display of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is the change in equity (new assets) of an
enterprise during a reporting period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner
sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by
owners and distributions to owners.

Section 1530 applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The Company has not yet determined when it will adopt this standard. Financial

statements of prior periods are required to be restated for certain comprehensive income items. In addition,
an enterprise is encouraged, but not required to present reclassification adjustments, in comparative

financial statements provided for earlier periods.

The Company has not yet assessed what 1mpact if any, adoption of this statement will have on the
Company’s financial statements.

Equiry

CICA Handbook Section 3251 — Equity, replaces Section 3250 — Surplus. It establishes standards for the
presentation of equity and changes in equity during a reporting period.

Section 3251 applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The Company has not yet determined when it will adopt this standard. Financial



statements of prior periods are required to be restated for certain specified items. For all other items,
comparative financial statements presented are not restated, but an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated other comprehensive income may be required.

The Company has not yet assessed what impact, if any, adoption of this statement will have on the
Company’s financial statements. The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement to have a
significant impact on the operations of the Company.

OUTLOOK

During September 2005, Inco Limited announced that it had produced its first concentrate from the
Voisey’s Bay mine and that it expects to see the first shipment of concentrate in November 2005. This
schedule would result in the recognition of the Company’s first royalty revenue from Voisey’s Bay during
the quarter ended December 31, 2005. With this exception, and the corresponding increase in amortization
related to the cost of the Voisey’s Bay royalty, the Company does not anticipate any significant changes in
its operating results during the remainder of 2005.

Because the Company acquired the shares of Archean instead of a direct interest in the Voisey’s Bay
Royalty, the Company will have no amortizable basis for Canadian income tax purposes, which may have
an adverse impact on the Company’s current tax liability once payments from the Voisey’s Bay Royalty
begin. Fluctuations in gold prices and in production output from the Williams Mine will continue to have
an impact on the Company’s royalty revenues in 2005.

The Company’s Debentures are denominated in Canadian dollars. In order to partially offset the foreign
currency risk associated therewith, the Board of Directors has instructed management to maintain all cash
balances in Canadian dollar accounts. All excess cash is invested in short-term, interest bearing securities
until they can be utilized for the acquisition of other royalty interests. The interest income from those
investments will be offset by interest expense on the Debentures.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

As of November 9, 2005, there were 57,024,981 Common Shares outstanding. In addition there were
3,978,000 director and employee stock options with exercise prices ranging between CA$3.67 and $4.80
per share. There were also 1,498,948 warrants outstanding, allowing the holders to purchase Common
Shares @ CA$3.00 per share and 427,297 warrants outstanding which allow the holders to purchase
Common Shares at CA$0.80 per share. All warrants expire on February 22, 2007.

RISK FACTORS

The following discussion pertains to the outlook and conditions currently known to management which
could have a material impact on the financial condition and results of the operations of the Company. This
discussion, by its nature, is not all-inclusive. It is not a guarantee that other factors will or will not affect
the Company in the future.

Fluctuation in Mineral Prices

Mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. The marketability and price of metals, minerals and
gems on properties for which the Company holds royalty interests will be influenced by numerous factors
beyond the control of the Company.



Foreign Currency Fluctuations

The Company’s royalty interests are subject to foreign currency fluctuations and inflationary pressures
which may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and results. There can be no assurance that
the steps taken by management to address foreign currency fluctuations will eliminate all adverse effects
and, accordingly, the Company may suffer losses due to adverse foreign currency fluctuations.

Company Valuation Heavily Dependent on Voisey’s Bay Royalty

The Company’s valuation is presently heavily weighted with the value of the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. The
Voisey’s Bay Royalty is very material to the Company’s ability to generate revenue. Therefore, the risk
associated with the Company’s valuation is heightened in the event that the Voisey’s Bay property is not
developed and placed into operation according to the currently proposed plan.

Recoverability of Resources and Reserves

The figures provided in connection with reserves and resources in respect of the properties in which the
Company has acquired royalty interests are estimates and no assurance can be given that full recovery of
the anticipated tonnages and grades will be achieved or that any indicated level of recovery will be realized.
The ore actually recovered may differ from the estimated grades of the reserves and resources. Future
production could differ from reserve and resources estimates for, among others, the following reasons:

{a) mineralization or formations could be different from those predicted by drilling, sampling and similar
examinations;

(b) increases in operating mining costs and processing costs could adversely affect whether the
mineralization remains as a reserve or resource;

(c) the grade of the reserves or resources may vary significantly from time to time and there is no
assurance that any particular level of mineralization will be recovered from the reserves or resources;

(d) declines in the market prices of metals may render the mining of some or all of the reserves
uneconomic; ‘

(e) unexpected penalties may be imposed by smelters or refiners; and

(f)  the metallurgy may turn out differently than that anticipated.



Form 52-109FT2 — Certification of fnterim Filings during Transition Period
I, Ray W. Jenner, Chief Financial Officer of International Royalty Corporation, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) of International
Royalty Corporation (the issuer) for the interim period ending September 30, 2005,

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in:light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as of the date
and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

DATED this 9™ day of November, 2005.

////j

Ray W Jen 0
Chief Finaricial Officer




‘ Form 52-109FT2 — Certification of Interim Filings during Transition Period

1, Douglas B. Silver, Chief Executive Officer of International Royalty Corporation, certify that:
1. 1 have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-

109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) of International

Royalty Corporation (the issuer) for the interim period ending September 30, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3.

Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as of the date
and for the periods-presented in the interim filings.

DATED this 9" day of November, 2005.

® .3

‘@ s B. Silver
Chief‘Executive Officer




International Royalty Corporation

Consolidated Financial Statements
For the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004
(unaudited, expressed in U.S. dollars)



International Royalty Corporatlon
Consolidated Balance Sheets

' (unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)‘:

June 30,
2005 December 31,
_(unaudited) 2004
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ‘ $ 15,398 $ 811
Restricted cash (note 4) ‘ 1,638 -
Royalty recetvable ﬂ 92 97
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 209 1
17,337 909
Royalty interests in mineral properties (note 3) 235,886 1,747
Furniture and equipment ' 80 6
Other assets (note 5) 13,091 840
$256,394 $3,502
’ Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued labilities $ 808 $ 744
Senior secured debentures (note 6) ' 19,758 -
Future income taxes (note 9) ‘ 74,159 -
Shareholders’ Equity (note 7)
Common shares
Authorized
Unlimited common shares without par value
Issued
57,010,658 (2004 — 5,849,433} common shares 164,186 2,058
Special warrants - 1,478
Warrants and options | 4,947 80
Deficit v (7,464) (858)
161,669 2,758
$256,394 $3,502

Nature of business and basis of presentation (note 1)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



International Royalty Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficit

EESSRRSRSR——— e  — |

(unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, éxcept per share data)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
‘ June 30, June 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Royalty revenues $ 107 $ 102 $ 205 $ 188
Expenses
Amortization 95 82 182 150
Business development expense 49 - 61 -
General and administrative 677 128 1,089 252
Stock-based compensation expense (note 7) 216 - 4,867 92
1,037 210 6,199 494
Loss from operations (930) (108) (5994) (306)
Other income (expense)
Foreign currency gain (loss) 43 2 48 6)
Interest expense (523) - (730) -
Interest income 112 - 152 -
(368) (2) (530) (6)_
Loss before income taxes (1,298) (110) (6,524) (312)
Future income tax (expense) benefit 309 - (82) -
Loss for the period (989) (110) _(6,606) (312)
Deficit at beginning of period (6,475) (415) (858) (213)
Deficit at end of period $(7,464) $(525) $(7,464) $(525)
Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.02) $(0.01) $ (0.15) $(0.04)
Basic and diluted weighted average ‘
common shares outstanding 57,010,658 8,308,000 42,670,175 8,308,000

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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International Royalty Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities ;
Loss for the period $. (989) $(110) $ (6,600) $(312)
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation and amortization 99 83 186 152
Amortization of deferred debenture costs 49 - 67 -
Accretion of debenture discount 142 - 196 -
Future income tax expense (benefit) (309) - 82 -
Non-cash foreign currency (gain) loss (219) 4 81 3
Unrealized cash foreign currency (gain) loss 163 (143) -
Stock-based compensation expense 216 - 4867 92
(843) (23) (1,270) (65)
Changes in non-cash working capital
(Increase) decrease in royalty receivable 3 (20) 1 2
Increase in prepaid expenses and other
current assets 37 6) (208) (%)
Increase in other assets - - (5) -
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 285 3) 638 (1
(592) (52) (844) (69)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of royalty interests in mineral
properties (621) - (125,143) -
Acquisition of furniture and equipment (77) - ) -
Deferred charges related to royalty acquisitions (35) - (117) -
(Investment in) redemption of restricted cash 562 - (2,313) -
(17D - (127,650) -
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of common shares (501) - 120,647 -
Net proceeds from unit offering (79) - 22,291 -
(580) - 142,938 -
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents (163) - 143 -
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (1,506) (52) 14,587 (69)
Cash and cash équivalents - beginning of
period 16,904 187 811 204
$ 135 $ 15398 $ 135

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period § 15398

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
June 30, 2005 (unaudited)

1 Nature of business and basis of presentation

International Royalty Corporation (“IRC” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of Yukon,
Canada on May 7, 2003 and was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on November
12, 2004. Tt was formed for the purpose of acquiring and creating natural resource royalties with a
specific emphasis on mineral royalies.

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not
include all of the information and notes to the consolidated financial statements required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004. In the opinion
of management, all adjustments considered necessary for fair presentation have been included.

The information contained in these interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2004 has not been audited or reviewed by the Company’s independent auditor.

2 New Accounting Policies

The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared following the same accounting policies
and methods of computation as the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2004, with the exception of the following:

Variable Interest Entities

The Company has adopted Accounting Guideline 15 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIE)”
effective January 1, 2005, whereby the guideline requires the consolidation of VIE’s by the primary
beneficiary; the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, expected
residual returns, or both. The adoption of Accounting Guideline 15 has not had a material impact on the
Company.

Deferred financing charges

Financing costs related to the issuance of senior secured debentures are deferred and amortized to interest
expense over the six year term of the related debt using the effective yield method.

Senior Secured Debentures

Proceeds from the Unit Offering (note 6) were allocated into debt and equity components based upon
their respective fair market vahies. The carrying value of the Senior Secured Debentures are being
accreted to their maturity value through charges to interest expense over the term of the Debentures based
on the effective yield method.
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3

Royalty interests in mineral properties °

Net Balance at Net Balance
December 31, June 30,
(in thousands of US$) 2004 Acquisitions Amortization 2005
Production stage: |
Williams Mine $1,747 $ - $(182) $ 1,565
Development stage: f
Voisey’s Bay Royalty ® - 225,726 - 225,726
Exploration stage:
Aviat One @ j - 2211 - 2211
Belahouro j - 802 - 802
Pinson - 512 - 512
Other @ ®©@@© - 5,070 - 5,070
- 8,595 - 8,595
$1,747 $234,321 $(182) $235,886

®  On January 10, 2005, the Company acquired royalty interests on the Pinson gold and the Hasbrouck

Mountain gold-silver deposits, both in Nevada, United States, from John Livermore for cash

consideration of $520,000.
®  On February 22, 2005, IRC completed separate agreements with two individuals for the purchase of
100% of the common shares of Archean Resources Ltd. (“Archean”), which owns 90% of a 3% net
smelter return royalty on the Voisey’s Bay property, located in northern Labrador, Canada. Total
constderation paid was CA$184.3 million, consisting of CA$152.5 million in cash and 7,395,349
common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”), valued at the Company’s initial public
offering (“TPO”) price of CA$4.30 per Common Share. In accordance with EIC-124, “Definition of
a Business”, the transaction has been accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and the full cost of
the transaction has been allocated to the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. See note 9 “future income tax
adjustment”.
©  On February 22, 2005, the Company acquired from Hecla Mining Company a portfolio of 14 mineral
royalty interests. Total consideration paid was $550,000 in Common Shares valued at the IPO
offering price of CA$4.30.

On February 22, 2005, the Company acquired from the Hunter Exploration Group a portfolio of 17
gross override royalty interests in approximately 20 million acres of lands located in Nunavut
Territory in Canada that are presently the subject of diamond exploration activities (the “Hunter
Portfolio™). Total consideration paid was CA$S5 million in Common Shares valued at CA$4.30, the
offering price of the IPO. See note 9 “future income tax adjustment”.

©  On November 15, 2004, the Company signed a letter agreement with BHP Billiton Worldwide
Exploration Inc. (“BHPB”) (as superseded by a definitive agreement dated March 18, 2005) to
acquire a mineral portfolio of 22 royalty interests for total consideration of $605,000 to be paid in
cash and $625,000 in Common Shares valued at the offering price of the IPO of CA$4.30, equal to
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180,189 Common Shares. On March 30, 2005, all of the Common Shares were 1ssued and placed
mto escrow pending the close of the transaction. On April 19, 2005, the Company completed the
purchase of 14 royalties from BHPB for all of the Common Shares and $65,000. The shares are
subject to a four month hold period expiring August 19, 2005. An additional 5 royalties were closed
on May 2, 2005 for consideration of $510,000. The acquisition of the three remaining royalties for
$30,000 is expected to be completed in the near future.

Pending royalty acquisition

On December 7, 2004, the Company signed a letter agreement with David Fawcett (superseded by a
royalty purchase agreement dated February 22, 2005) to acquire 20.3% of a 1% royalty interest on four
coal licenses in British Columbia for total consideration o CA$312,500 in cash and CA$937,500 in
Common Shares valued at the offering price of the I[PO of CA$4.30. Pursuant to an agreement dated
February 22, 2005, the cash and 218,023 Common Shares were placed in escrow pending receipt of
executed royalty assignment agreements from the property owner, Western Canadian Coal Corp.
(“Western). The value of the Common Shares has been included in other assets at June 30, 2005 and
will be transferred to royalty interest in mineral properties upon closing of the transaction.

On March 21, 2005, Western filed a petition with the Supreme Court of British Columbia to have the

underlying royalty sharing agreement set aside. The Company has reviewed the petition and supporting
affidavits filed by Western and believes that the position taken by Western is without merit.

. 4  Restricted cash

Restricted cash consisted of the following at June 30, 2005 (in _thousands of US$):

Cash in escrow for the payment of interest on the Debentures (note 6) $2,028
Cash in escrow for the purchase of the BHPB portfolio (note 3) 40
Cash in escrow for the purchase of the David Fawcett royalties (note 3) 255
2,323
Less long-term portion included in other assets (685)
$1,638

5 Other assets

Other assets consisted of the following at June 30, 2005 (in thousands of USS$):

Cash in escrow for the payment of interest on the Debentures (note 6) $ 685
Deferred amounts related to pending royalty acquisitions (note 3) 827

Financing costs related to issuance of the Debentures, net of
amortization of $67 (note 6) ‘ 1,579
$3,091
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6 Senior secured debentures

On February 22, 2005, the Company completed a “Unit Offering” for gross proceeds of CA$30 million
The Unit Offering consisted of CA$30 million of 5.5% senior secured debentures (the “Debentures”) due
February 22, 2011 and 1,395,360 Common Shares. The obligations of the Company under the
Debentures are secured by a general security agreement over all of the assets of the Company relating to
the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. ‘

Interest on the Debentures is payable semiannually, with the first payment due on August 31, 2005, and
principal due at maturity. Under the terms of the Debentures, the first three semi-annual interest
payments were withheld and placed into an escrow account. The value of the Common Shares issued of
$4.9 million has been recorded as a discount to the Debentures and will be amortized over the life of the
Debentures using the effective yield method.

The Company’s contractual obligations for future principal payments under the terms of the Debentures
are summarized as follows: :

Year (8 in thousands)”

2005 1 $ -
2006 1 -
2007 ‘ -
2008 ! -
‘ 2009 -
Thereafter 24,426
Total $24,426

M The obligation is denominated in CAS. All amounts were converted to US$ equivalents using an

exchange rate of US$1.00 to CA$1.2282.

7  Shareholders’ equity

Common Shares issued and outstanding were as follows:

(in thousands of US$) ‘ Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 5,849,433 $ 2,058
Exercise of initial financing specia | warrants 2,550,000 1,319
Exercise of compensation special warrants 308,000 159
Shares issued in connection with the PO (net of issnance
costs) 34,383,721 114,719
Shares issued in connection with the Unit Offering (net
of issuance costs) 1,395,360 4,588
Shares issued for the purchase of royalty 1nterests in .
mineral properties (net of issuance costs) 8,896,895 31,015
Shares issued for services 2,249 8
Issuance of over-allotment shares : 2,906,977 9,560
Shares issued into escrow 218,023 760
‘ Balance at June 30, 2005 57,010,658 $164,186
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Activity in special warrants:

Special
(in thousands of US$) Warrants Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 2,858,000 $ 1,478
Exercise of initial financing special warrants (2,550,000) (1,319)
Exercise of compensation special warrants (308,000) (159

Balance at June 30, 2005

Activity in warrants and stock options was as follows:

Warrants and

{in thousands of US$) stock options Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 ‘ 1,940,568 $ 80
Stock options issued 1 3,000,000 4,367
Balance at June 30, 2005 4940 568 $4,947

Initial public offering

. On February 22, 2005, the Company completed its IPO of 37,790,698 (including the agents’ exercise of
the over-allotment option on March 4, 2005) Common Shares at CA$4.30 per Common Share for gross
proceeds of CA$162.5 million Gross proceeds received from the IPO and the Unit Offering, and use of

proceeds are outlined as follows:

(in thousands of US$) CAS US$
Gross proceeds from the IPO $162,500 $ 131,659
Gross proceeds from the Unit Offering 30,000 24321
Agents’ commission and estimated expenses of offering (16,332) (13,178)
176,168 142,802
Acquisition of Archean V@ (153,024) (124,056)
Funds deposited in escrow (2,475) (2,0006)
Net proceeds to the Company $ 20,669 $ 16,740

See note 3 “Royalty interests in mineral properties”.

®Includes costs of acquisition.

Stock options

During the six months ended June 30, 2005, the Company issued 3,000,000 stock options to its directors,
officers and employees. The stock options were at a weighted average exercise price of CA$4.33 per

‘ share and were vested immediately at the time of issuance.
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The Company uses the fair value based method of accounting for all stock-based compensation awards.
The fair value of the stock options has been estimated at $4,867,000 using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model with the following assumptions:

Risk free interest rate 3.6%
Expected dividend yield 0.0%
Expected price volatility of the Company’s common

shares 60%
Expected life of the option 3.5 years
Weighted average fair value per stock option §1.62

Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected price
volatility. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and
therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the
Company’s stock options. '

8 Supplemental disclosure of cash flow inférmation

‘ June 30,
(in thousands of US$) 2005
Future income taxes in royalty interest in mineral properties (note 9) $77,954
Future income tax benefit relating to issuance costs included in
‘ common shares (note 9) (3,877)
Shares issued for the acquisition of royalty interests in mineral
properties and for services 31,022
Shares issued to escrow ‘ 760

9  Future income tax adjustment

The Company has recorded an adjustment to the purchase price of the Archean acquisition (Voisey’s Bay
Royalty) and the Hunter Portfolio to reflect the fact that the Company has no amortizable basis in these
assets for Canadian income tax purposes. The effect of the adjustments is to increase the value of the
respective royalty mterests and to record an offsetting adjustment to future income taxes. These
adjustments will have no impact on either past or future cash flows of the Company. Recording of the
future income tax liability has also resulted in the recognition of tax benefits related to the Company’s tax
net operating losses, and certain expenses of the IPO and the Unit Offering. Details of the balance in
future income taxes at June 30, 2005 is as follows:

(in thousands of US$)
Adjustment to royalty interest in mineral properties $77,954
Adjustment to common shares to reflect the tax deductibility of

expenses of the offering (3,877)
Future income tax expense 82

$74,159




MANAGEMENT’SLDISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AT
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of financial position and results of operatlons of *
International Royalty Corporation the “Company” or “IRC’) has been prepared based on mfonnanon
available to the Company as of August 12, 2005 and should be read in conjunction with the Company/s
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto as of and for the six months ended June 30,
2003, and in conjunction with the MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2004. All amounts are inUS.
dollars unless specifically stated otherwise.

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s annual information form is
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

This document contains certain forward looking statements. These statements relate to future events or
future performance and reflect management’s expectations regarding the Company’s growth, results of
operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. Such forward-looking statements reflect
management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management. In some
cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”,

“expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “target” or the
negative of these terms or other comparable termmo]ogy A number of factors could causeactual events or
results to differ materially from the results discussed in various factors, which may cause actual results to
differ materially from any forward-looking statement. Although the forward-looking statements contained
in this management discussion and analysis are based upon what management believes to be reasonable
assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this document, and the
Company assumes no obligation to update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY INFORMATION:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
($ thousands, except per share data) June 30, June 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Statement of Operations ;
Royalty revenues $107 $102 $205 5188
Amortization of royalty interest in ‘
mineral properties $95 382 $182 $150
Gross profit from royalties $12 $20 $23 $38
General and adminis trative $677 $128 $1,089 $252
Net loss $(989) $(110) $(6,606) $(312)
Basic and diluted loss per share $(0.02) $(0.01) $(0.15) $(0.04)
Statement of Cash Flows ‘
Cash provided from (used in) ‘
operating activities $(592) $(52) $(844) $(69)

June 30, December 31,

2005 2004
Balance Sheet ‘
Total assets f $256,394 $3,502

Shareholders’ Equity 1 $161,895 $2,758



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Overall

The Company’s profile changed dramatically during the first half of 2005 with the successful completion of
its initial public offering (“IPO”) on February 22, 2005, raising gross proceeds of CA$162,500,000 on the
sale of 37,790,698 common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”). The Company also raised an
additional CA$30,000,000 in gross proceeds through the sale of units (the “Unit Offering”), consisting of
1,395,360 Common Shares and CA$30,000,000 in senior secured debentures. The proceeds were used for
the indirect acquisition of the Voisey’s Bay: royalty and other royalties as further described in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2005.

During 2004, all of IRC’s executives and employees were on a part-time basis and/or were paid reduced
salanies in order to preserve our cash resources. In addition, IRC’s directors were paid no fees during 2004
and professional fees were kept to a minimum. : With the completion of the IPO, all current employees are
now being paid their stated salaries, and additional employees have been hired to accommodate the
increased demands of a public company, and to assist the Company in the identification, assessment and
acquisition of new royalty opportunities. We have added new directors, and have begun to pay our outside
directors fees comparable to those of companies similar to IRC. Professional fees, filing and listing fees,
printing and mailing costs, insurance, and other costs associated with being a public company have
increased as a result of our IPO. In addition, the Company’s larger cash position and senior secured
debentures have resulted in an increase in interest income and interest expense during 2005 compared to
prior periods.

Quarter ended June 30, 2005 compared to the quarter ended June 30, 2004

Loss before income taxes for the quarter ended June 30, 2005 was $1,298,000 or $0.02 per share compared
to a loss of $110,000 or $0.01 per share for the quarter ended June 30, 2004. During April and June of
2005, IRC issued 150,000 stock options to its officers and employees, resulting in a charge of $216,000 to
stock-based conpensation expense during the quarter. There were no charges for stock-based
compensation in the quarter ended June 30, 2004. General and administrative expenses increased by
$549,000 to $677,000 during the quarter ended June 30, 2005, compared to the quarter ended June 30,
2004. Legal accounting and other professional fees accounted for $149,000 of the increase, as the
company required assistance with its ongoing fling and compliance requirements, and also with the
implementation of its shareholders’ rights plan.' Salaries and benefits increased by $169,000 to $255,000
due to the full time salaries and larger staff as described above. The Company had its first annual meeting
during the quarter ended June 30, 2003, resulting in an increase in travel and entertainment costs of
approximately $50,000, and printing costs of $21,000. Other general and administrative increases during
the period included directors’ fees, $18,000; insurance expense, $4,000; investor relations £9,000;
listing, filing and transfer fees of $£3,000 and; general office costs of approximately $21,000. In 2005,
IRC incurred $523,000 of interest expense durinig the quarter related to the senior secured debentures, and
also earned $112,000 of interest income from investment of excess cash and escrowed cash compared to
$nil in the previous year. ‘

Six months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2004

Loss before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2005 was $,524,000 or $0.15 per share
compared to a loss of $312,000 or $0.04 per share for the six months ended June 30, 2004. During 2005,
IRC issued 3,000,000 stock options to its directors, officers and employees, resulting in a charge of
$4,867,000 to stock-based compensation expense during the pericd, compared to $92,000 for the six
months ended June 30, 2004. General and administrative expenses increased by $837,000 to $1,089,000
during the six months ended June 30, 2005, compared to the same period in 2004. Legal, accounting and
other professional fees accounted for $273,000 of the increase, as the company required assistance with its
ongoing filing and compliance requirements, and also with the implementation of s shareholders’ rights
plan. Salaries increased by $251,000 also due to'the full time salaries and larger staff previously described.



The Company had its first annual meeting during the period ended June 30, 2005, contributing to an
increase in travel and entertainment costs of approximately $55,000, and printing costs of $20,000. Other
increases included directors’ fees, $34,000; insurance expense, $50,000; investor relations $48,000; listing,
filing and transfer fees of $4,000 and; general office costs of approximately $31,000. The Company
incurred $730,000 of interest expense during the period related to the senior secured debentures, and also
earned $152,000 of interest income from investment of excess cash and escrowed cash compared to $nil in
the previous year.

Revenue and operations

During the quarter ended June 30, 2005, royalty revenues increased to $107,000 from $102,000 in the same
quarter of 2004, due to an increase in the average price of gold from $393 in 2004 to $427 in 2005.

During the six months ended June 30, 2005, royalty revenues increased to $205,000 from $188,000 during
the same period in 2004, partially due to an increase in ounces produced at the Williams mine during the
period and also due to an increase in the average price of gold from $401 in 2004 to $427 in 2005.

Amortization is computed based upon the units of production method over the life of the mineral reserves
of the underlying the property. At December 31, 2004, the Williams mine operator adjusted the estimated
reserves of the mine downward by approximately 18% from its previous estimate. This will result in an
increased rate of amortization over the remaining life of the Williams mine royalty and a corresponding
reduction in gross profit from the royalty. Amortization on mineral properties increased from $82,000 for
the quarter ended June 30, 2004 to $95,000 for the quarter ended June 30, 2005. For the six months ended
June 30, 2005, amortization was $182,000 compared to $150,000 during the same period in 2004. These
increases were primarily due to the increased rate of amortization described above and also due to the
increase in ounces produced at the Williams mine during 2005.

FINANCIAL POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Operating Cash Flow

Cash used in operating activities, before changes to non-cash working capital items was $843,000 during
the quarter ended June 30, 2005 compared to £3,000 during the quarter ended June 30, 2004. Cash
general and administrative expenses increased by $547,000 during 2005, due to the increased costs
described above. Cash interest expense was $332,000 and the Company also had a realized cash foreign
currency loss of 88,000 compared to gain of $1,000 in the 2004 period. Business development expenses
were $49,000 during the quarter ended June 30, 2005, compared to $nil in the same period a year ago.
These decreases were offset by interest income of $112,000 and increased royalty revenues of $5,000.

Cash used in operating activities, before changes to non-cash working capital items was $1,270,000 during
the six months ended June 30, 2005 compared to $65,000 during the same period in 2004. Cash general
and administrative expenses increased by $835,000 during 2005, due to the increased costs previously
described. Cash interest expense was $467,000 during 2005 and $nil in 2004. The Company had a realized
cash foreign currency loss of $14,000 compared to loss of $3,000 in the 2004 period. Business
development expenses were $61,000 during the six months ended June 30, 20035, compared to $nil in the
same period a year ago. These decreases were offset by interest income of $152,000 and increased royalty
revenues of $17,000.

Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2005, IRC acquired the Voisey’s Bay royalty for cash consideration
of $124.1 million, and additional royalty portfolios from John Livermore, Hecla Mining Company, the
Hunter Exploration Group and BHP Billiton Worldwide Exploration Inc. for total cash consideration of
$1.1 milljon. IRC also invested a total of $2.3 million into restricted cash during the period, including $2.0



million into an interest escrow for the senior secured debentures and $0.3 million in escrow for the
completion of a pending royalty acquisition.

Financing Activities

On February 22, 2005, the Company completed its IPO of 37,790,698 (including the exercise of the over-
allotment option on March 4, 2005) Common Shares at CA$4.30 per Common Share for gross proceeds of
CAS$162,500,000. Coincident with the IPO, the Company also completed a “Unit Offering” for gross
proceeds of CA$30,000,000. The Unit Offering consisted of CA$30,000,000 of 5.5% senior secured
debentures (the “Debentures™) due February 22, 2011 and 1,395,360 Common Shares. Gross proceeds
received are summarized as follows:

(8 in thousands) j CAS US$
Gross proceeds from the IPO ‘ 162,500 131,659
Gross proceeds from the Unit Offering 30,000 24,321
Agents’ commission and estimated expenses:of offering (16,332) (13,178)

Net proceeds 176,168 142,802

Cash Resources and Liguidity

The Company had a cash position of $135.4 million at June 30, 2005 and working capital of $16.5 million,
an increase of $14.6 million and $16.4 million respectively from December 31, 2004. The large increase
during the year is a result of the Company’s completion of its IPO and the Unit Offering during the period,
reduced by expenditures for the acquisition of the mineral royalties described above.

The Company’s near-term cash requirements are limited to general and administrative, and business
development expenses. As a royalty company, there are no requirements for exploration, feastbility,
development or capital expenditures. Royalty acquisitions are discretionary in nature and will be
consummated through the use of cash, as available, or through the issuance of Common Shares.

The Company believes that the funds raised from the IPO and the Unit Offering will be sufficient to cover
the cost of general and administrative expenses for at least the next two years. In addition, the Company
will continue to receive royalty income from the Williams Royalty during the remainder of 2005 and future
years. With the commencement of the Voisey’s Bay mine and the corresponding revenue to be received
from the Voisey’s Bay Royalty, anticipated in early 2006, the Company expects to have sufficient cash
flow to meet all of its cash needs into the foreseeable future.

The Company’s contractual obligations for future payments are summarized as follows:

(8 in thousands ) Minimum Debenture Total
Lease Principal Contractual
Year Obligations Obligations " Obligations
2005 $ 8 h) - $ 3
2006 46 . 46
2007 48 - 48
2008 .51 - 51
2009 52 - 52
Thereafter © 45 24,426 24,471
Total $250 $24.426 $24,676

) The obligation is denominated in CAS$. All amounts were converted to US$ equivalents

using an exchange rate of US$1.00 to CA$1.2282.



Financial Position

The Company has recorded an adjustment to the purchase price of the Archean acquisition (Voisey’s
Bay Royalty) and its Hunter Royalty Portfolio to reflect the fact that the Company has no amortizable
basis in these assets for Canadian income tax purposes. The effect of the adjustments is to increase
the value of the respective royalty interests and to record an offsetting adjustment to future income
taxes. This adjustment will have no impact on either past or future cash flows of the
Company. Recording of the future income tax liability has also resulted in the recognition of tax
benefits related to the Company’s tax net operating losses, and certain expenses of the IPO and the
Unit Offering. Details of the balance in future income taxes at June 30, 2005 is as follows:

(in thousands of §) ‘ .
Adjustment to royalty interest in mineral properties $77,954
Adjustment to common shares to reflect the tax deductibility of

expenses of the offering ‘ (3,877)
Future income tax expense realized since acquisition 82

$74,159

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates by a material amount,

Management’s estimate of mineral prices, operators’ estimates of proven and probable reserves related to
the underlying royalty properties and operators’. estimates of operating, capital and reclamation costs upon
which the Company relies, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. These estimates affect revenue
recognition, amortization of royalty interests in mineral properties and the assessment of recoverability of
the royalty interests in mineral properties. The estimated fair values of stock options require the input of
highly subjective assumptions including the expected price volatility. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of the stock options. Although management has
made its best assessment of these factors based upon current conditions, it is possible that changes could
occur, which could materially affect the amounts contained in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company. ;

Royalty Revenue

Royalty revenue is recognized when management can estimate the payable production from mine
operations, when the underlying price is determinable, when collection is reasonably assured and pursuant
to the terms of the royalty agreements. In practice, management has used a rolling average of royalty
receipts to estimate future receipts. Differencés between estimates of royalty revenue and the actual
amounts are adjusted and recorded in the period in which the amounts of the differences are known. In
some instances (i.e. a new operation), the Company will not have access to sufficient current or historical
information regarding payable production to make a reasonable estimate of revenue. In these instances,
revenue recognition is deferred until the Company can make a reasonable estimate and will generally be
recorded on a cash basis until sufficient history is available to make a reasonable estimate.

Amortization of Royalty Interests in Mineral Properties

Acquisition costs of production and development-stage royalty interests are amortized using the units of
production method over the life of the mineral property, which is estimated using only proven and probable



reserves. Adjustments to payable production from mine operations, as discussed in the paragraph above,
would result in a corresponding adjustment to the amortization of the acquisition costs.

Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverability of the carrying value of royalty
interests in production and development stage mineral properties is evaluated based upon estimated future
undiscounted net cash flows from each royalty interest using available estimates of proven and probable
reserves.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of royalty interests in exploration stage
mineral properties in the event of significant decreases in the price of the underlying mineral, and whenever
new information regarding the mineral property is obtained from the operator that could affect the future
recoverability of the royalty interest.

Impairments in the carrying value of each royalty interest are measured and recorded to the extent that the
carrying value in each royalty interest exceeds its estimated fair value, which is calculated using future
discounted cash flows, in accordance with the new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA™)
Handbook Section 3063 “Impairment of Long-lived Assets”, which the Company adopted effective January
1, 2004. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the comparative consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with the requirements of CICA Handbook
Section 3870 “Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments” whereby the fair value of
awards to both employees and non-employees are recognized as an expense. Compensation expense for
options and warrants granted are determined based on estimated fair values of the options and the warrants
at the time of grant, the cost of which is recognized over the vesting period of the respective options and
warrants.

NEW ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Variable Interest Entities

The Company has adopted Accounting Guideline 15 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIE)”
effective January 1, 2005, whereby the guideline requires the consolidation of VIE’s by the primary
beneficiary; the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, expected
residual returns, or both. The adoption of Accounting Guideline 15 has not had a material impact on the
Company.

Deferred financing charges

Financing costs related to the issuance of the Debentures are deferred and amortized over the six year term
of the related debt using the effective yield method.

Senior Secured Debentures

Proceeds from the Unit Offering were allocated into debt and equity components based upon their
respective fair market values. The carrying value of the Debentures is being accreted to their maturity
value through charges to interest expense over the tem of the Debentures based on the effective yield
method. ‘



NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Comprehensive Income

CICA Handbook Section 1530 — Comprehensive Income introduces new standards for reporting and
display of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is the change in equity (new assets) of an
enterprise during a reporting period from transa:ctions and other events and circumstances from non-owner
sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by
owners and distributions to owners. 1

Section 1530 applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The Company has not yet ‘determined when it will adopt this standard. Financial
statements of prior periods are required to be restated for certain comprehensive income items. In addition,
an enterprise is encouraged, but not required to present reclassification adjustments, in comparative
financial statements provided for earlier periods.

The Company has not yet assessed what impact, if any, adoption of this statement will have on the
Company’s financial statements.

Equity

CICA Handbook Section 3251 — Equity, replaces Section 3250 — Surplus. It establishes standards for the
presentation of equity and changes in equity during a reporting period.

Section 3251 applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The Company has not yet determined when it will adopt this standard. Financial
statements of prior periods are required to be restated for certain specified items. For all other items,
comparative financial statements presented are not restated, but an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated other comprehensive income may be required.

The Company has not yet assessed what impact, if any, adoption of this statement will have on the
Company’s financial statements. The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement to have a
significant impact on the operations of the Company.

OUTLOOK

The Company does not anticipate any significant changes in its operating results during the remainder of
2005, with the exception of the increase in general and administrative expenses as previously described.

Until the commencement of operations at the Voisey’s Bay mine, expected in early 2006, the Company
does not anticipate significant changes in royalty revenue. Because the Company acquired the shares of
Archean instead of a direct interest in the Voisey’s Bay Royalty, the Company will have no amortizable
basis for Canadian income tax purposes, which may have an adverse impact on the Company’s current tax
liability once payments from the Voisey’s Bay Royalty begin. Fluctuations in gold prices and in
production output from the Williams Mine will continue to have an impact on the Company’s royalty
revenues in 2005.

The Company’s Debentures are denominated in Canadian dollars. In order to partially offset the foreign
currency risk associated therewith, the Board of Directors has instructed management to maintain all cash
balances in Canadian dollar accounts. All excess cash is invested in short-term, interest bearing securities
until they can be utilized for the acquisition of other royalty interests. The interest income from those
investments will be offset by interest expense on'the Debentures.



OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

As of August 12, 2005, there were 57,010,658 Common Shares outstanding. In addition there were
3,000,000 director and employee stock options with exercise prices ranging between CA$3.67 and $4.80
per share. There were also 1,500,000 warrants outstanding, allowing the holders to purchase Common
Shares at CA$3.00 per share and 440,000 warrants outstanding which allow the holders to purchase
Common Shares at CA$0.80 per share. All warrants expire on February 22, 2007.

RISK FACTORS

The following discussion pertains to the outlook and conditions currently known to management which
could have a material impact on the financial condition and results of the operations of the Company. This
discussion, by its nature, is not all-inclusive. It is not a guarantee that other factors will or will not affect
the Company in the future.

Fluctuation in Mineral Prices

Mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. The marketability and price of metals, minerals and
gems on properties for which the Company holds royalty interests will be influenced by numerous factors
beyond the control of the Company. |

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

The Company’s royalty interests are subject to foreign currency fluctuations and inflationary pressures
which may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and resuits. There can be no assurance that
the steps taken by management to address foreign currency fluctuations will diminate all adverse effects
and, accordingly, the Company may suffer losses due to adverse foreign currency fluctuations.

Company Valuation Heavily Dependent on Voisey’s Bay Royalty

The Company’s valuation is presently heavily weighted with the value of the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. The
Voisey’s Bay Royalty is very material to the Company’s ability to generate revenue. Therefore, the risk
associated with the Company’s valuation is heightened in the event that the Voisey’s Bay property is not
developed and placed into operation according to the currently proposed plan.

Recoverability of Resources and Reserves

The figures provided in connection with reserves and resources in respect of the properties in which the
Company has acquired royalty interests are estimates and no assurance can be given that full recovery of
the anticipated tonnages and grades will be achieved or that any indicated level of recovery will be realized.
The ore actually recovered may differ from the estimated grades of the reserves and resources. Future
production could differ from reserve and resources estimates for, among others, the following reasons:

(a) mineralization or formations could be different from those predicted by drilling, sampling and similar
examinations;

(b) increases in operating mining costs and. processing costs could adversely affect whether the
mineralization remains as a reserve or resource;

(c) the grade of the reserves or resources may vary significantly from time to time and there is no
assurance that any particular level of mineralization will be recovered from the reserves or resources;

(d) declines in the market prices of metals may render the mining of some or all of the reserves
uneconomic;

(e) unexpected penalties may be imposed by smelters or refiners; and

(f) the metallurgy may turn out differently than that anticipated.



Form 52-109FT2 - Certification of Interim Filings during Transition Period
I, Ray W. Jenner, Chief Financial Officer of International Royalty Corporation, certify that:

1. I have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) of International
Royalty Corporation (the issuer) for the interim period ending June 30, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as of the date
and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

DATED this 12® day of August, 2005.

-7

Py ,

o, 2l
Ray W. Jenner”
Chief Financial Officer




Form 52-109FT2 — Certification of Interim Filings during Transition Period
1, Douglas B. Silver, Chief Executive Officer of International Royalty Corporation, certify that:

1. T have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) of International
Royalty Corporation (the issuer) for the interim period ending June 30, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as of the date
and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

DATED this 12" day of August, 2005.

2 S

Douglas B.j§ilver
Chief Execittive Officer




International Royalty Corporation

Consolidated Financial Statements
For the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004
(unaudited, expressed in U.S. dollars)



International Royalty Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

. (unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) -

March 31, December 31,
2005 2004
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,904 § 811
Restricted cash (note 4) 2,228 -
Royalty receivable 99 97
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 172 1
19,403 909
Royalty interests in mineral properties (note 3) 156,680 1,747
Furniture and equipment 6 6
Other assets (note 5) 3,810 840
$179,899 $3,502
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 963 $ 744
Senior secured debentures (note 6) 19,850 -
Shareholders’ Equity (note 7)
Common shares f
Authorized :
Unlimited common shares without par valu:
Issued ‘ |
57,010,658 (2004 — 5,849,433) common shares 160,439 2,058
Special warrants 3 - 1,478
Warrants and options 4,731 80
Deficit (6,084) (858)
159,086 2,758
$179,899 $3,502

Nature of business and basis of presentation (note 1)

Subsequent events (note 9)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



International Royalty Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficits

‘ (unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, éxcept per share data)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2005 2004
Royalty revenues $ 98 $ 86
Expenses
Amortization 87 68
General and administrative 424 124
Stock-based compensation expense (note 7) 4,651 92
5,162 284
Loss from operations (5,064) (198)
Other income (expense)
Foreign currency gain (loss) 5 C))
Interest expense (207) -
Interest income 40 -
(162) “

Loss for the period (5226) (202)
Deficit at beginning of period - (858) (213)
Deficit at end of period $(6,084) $(415)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.18) $(0.02)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares

outstanding 28,674,755 8,308,000

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.




International Royalty Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

. (unaudited, expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)§

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the period 1 $  (5,226) $(202)
Items not affecting cash :
Depreciation and amortization ; ]7 69
Amortization of deferred debenture costs 72 -
Non-cash foreign currency loss : 295 -
Stock-based compensation expense 4651 %9}
‘ (121) 41
(Increase) decrease in royalty receivable 2 21
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other
current assets (171) 1
Increase in other assets ; (5 R
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 353 2
54 a7
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of royalty interests in mineral properties (124,425) -
‘ Deferred charges related to royalty acqu1smons (179) -
Investment in restricted cash (2,875) -
(127,479) -
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common shares 121,148 -
Proceeds from unit offering ‘ 22,370 -
143,518 -
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,093 (17)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 811 204
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $ 16,904 $ 187

Supplemental cash flow information (no:te 8)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
March 31, 2005 ‘

1 Nature of business and basis of presenﬁation

International Royalty Corporation (“IRC” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of Yukon,
Canada on May 7, 2003 and was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on November
12, 2004. It was formed for the purpose of acquiring and creating natural resource royalties with a
specific emphasis on mineral royalies.

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not
include all of the information and notes to the consolidated financial statements required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with
the Company’s consolidated financial statemé;nts for the year ended December 31, 2004. In the opinion
of management, all adjustments considered necessary for fair presentation have been included.

The information contained in these interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended
March 31, 2004 has not been audited or reviewed by the Company’s independent auditor.

2 New Accounting guidance and significaht accounting policies
The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared following the same accounting policies

and methods of computation as the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2004, with the exception of the following:3

Variable Interest Entities

The Company has adopted Accounting Guideline 15 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIE)”
effective January 1, 2005, whereby the guideline requires the consohidation of VIE’s by the primary
beneficiary; the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, expected
residual returns, or both. The adoption of Accounting Guideline 15 has not had a material impact on the
Company.

Deferred financing charges

Financing costs related to the issuance of senior secured debentures are deferred and amortized over the
six year term of the related debt using the effective yield method.

Senior Secured Debentures

The carrying value of the Senior Secured Debentures are being accreted to their maturity value through
charges to interest expense over the term of the“Debentures based on the effective yield method.



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements
March 31, 2005

3 Royalty interests in mineral properties:

Net Balance at Net Balance
December 31, March 31,
(in thousands of US$) 2004 Acquisitions  Amortization 2005
Production stage:
Williams Mine . $1,747 $ - $(87) $ 1,660
Development stage: ‘
Voisey’s Bay Royalty ® - 149,837 - 149,837
Exploration stage:
Aviat One ¥ | - 1,467 . 1,467
Pinson \ - 512 - 512
Other @®© @ - 3,204 - 3,204
1 - 5,183 - 5,183
- $1,747 $155,020 $(87) $156,680

@

(®)

(c)

(d)

On January 10, 2005, the Company acquired royalty interests on the Pinson gold and the Hasbrouck
Mountain gold-silver deposits, both in Nevada, United States, from John Livermore for cash
consideration of $520,000. |

On February 22, 2005, IRC completed separate agreements with two individuals for the purchase of
100% of the common shares of Archean Resources Ltd. (“Archean’), which owns 90% of a 3% net
smelter return royalty on the Voisey’s Bay property, located in northern Labrador, Canada. Total
consideration paid was CA$184.3 million, consisting of CA$152.5 million in cash and 7,395,349
common shares of the Company (“Common Shares™), valued at the Company’s initial public
offering (‘IPO”) price of CA$4.30 per Common Share. In accordance with EIC-124, “Definition of
a Business”, the transaction has been accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and the full cost of
the transaction has been allocated to the Voisey’s Bay Royalty.

On February 22, 2005, the Company acquired from Hecla Mining Company a portfolio of 14 mineral
royalty interests. Total consideration paid was $550,000 in Common Shares valued at the IPO
offering price of CA$4.30.

On February 22, 2005, the Company acquired from the Hunter Exploration Group a portfolio of 17
gross override royalty interests in approximately 20 million acres of lands located in Nunavut
Temitory in Canada that are presently the subject of diamond exploration activities. Total
consideration pad was CA$5 million in Common Shares valued at CA$4.30, the offering price of
the IPO.

Pending royalty acquisitions

BHPB portfolio

On November 15, 2004, the Company signed a letter agreement with BHP Billiton Worldwide
Exploration Inc. (“BHPB”) (as superseded by a definitive agreement dated as of March 18, 2005) to



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements

. March 31 2005

5

acquire a mineral portfolio of 22 royalty interests for total consideration of $605,000 to be paid in cash
and $625,000 in Common Shares valued at the offering price of the IPO, CA$4.30. On March 30, 2005,
the Common Shares were issued and placed into escrow pending the close of the transaction. The value
of the Common Shares has been included in other assets at March 31, 2005 and will be transferred to
royalty interest in mineral properties upon closing of the transaction.

David Fawcett

On December 7, 2004, the Company signed a letter agreement with David Fawcett (superseded by a
royalty purchase agreement dated February 22, 2005) to acquire 20.3% of a 1% royalty interest on four
coal licenses in British Columbia for total consideration of CA$312,500 in cash and CA$937,500 in
Common Shares valued at the offering price of the IPO of CA$4.30. Pursuant to an agreement dated
February 22, 2005, the cash and 218,023 Common Shares were placed in escrow pending receipt of
executed royalty assignment agreements from the property owner, Western Canadian Coal Corp.
(“Western”). The value of the Common Shares has been included in other assets at March 31, 2005 and
will be transferred to royalty interest in mineral properties upon closing of the transaction.

On March 21, 2005, Western filed a petition with the Supreme Court of British Columbia to have the
underlying royalty sharing agreement set aside. The Company has reviewed the petition and supporting
affidavits filed by Western and believes that the position taken by Western is without merit.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash consisted of the following at March 31, 2005 (in thousands of USS$):

Cash in escrow for the payment of interest on the Debentures

(note 6) $2,034
Cash in escrow for the purchase of the BHPB portfolio (note 3) 615
Cash in escrow for the purchase of the David Fawcett royalties

(note 3) ‘ ‘ 257

2,906
Less long-term portion included in other assets (678)
$2,228

Other assets

Other assets consisted of the following at March‘31, 2005 (in thousands of US$):

Cash in escrow for the payment of interest on the Debentures

(note 6) $ 678
Deferred amounts related to pending royalty acquISlthl'lS
(note 3) 1,518
Financing costs related to issuance of the Debentures net of
amortization of $18 (note 6) 1,614
$3,810




International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements |
March 31, 2005

Senior secured debentures

On February 22, 2005, the Company completed a “Unit Offering™ for gross proceeds of CA$30 million
The Unit Offering consisted of CA$30 million of 5.5% senior secured debentures (the “Debentures’) due
February 22, 2011 and 1,395,360 Common Shares. The obligations of the Company under the
Debentures are secured by a general security agreement over all of the assets of the Company relating to
the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. ‘

Interest on the Debentures is payable semiannually, with the first payment due on August 31, 2005, and
principal due at maturity. Under the terms of the Debentures, the first three semi-annual interest
payments were withheld and placed into an escrow account. The value of the Common Shares issued of
$4.9 million has been recorded as a discount to the Debentures and will be amortized over the life of the
Debentures using the effective yield method.

The Company’s contractual obligations for future payments under the terms of the Debentures are
summarized as follows: :

Year ($ in thousands)”

2005 $ 679
2006 ; 1,358 @
2007 i 1,358
2008 i 1,358
2009 | 1,358
Thereafter ‘ 26,720

Total ; $32,831
M The obligation is denominated in CA$. All amounts were converted to US$ equivalents using an
exchange rate of US$1.00 to CA$1.2153.

@ Under the terms of the Debentures, the first three semi-annual payments were placed in escrow at

the time of closing.

Shareholders’ equity

Common Shares issued and outstanding were as follows:

(in thousands of US$) : Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 5,849,433 $ 2,058
Exercise of initial financing special warrants 2,550,000 1,319
Exercise of compensation special warrants 308,000 159
Shares issued in connection with the IPO 34,883,721 111,383
Shares issued m connection with the Unit Offering 1,395,360 4455
Shares issued for the purchase of royalty interests in
mineral properties 8,716,706 30,387
Shares issued for services 2,249 8
Issuance of over-allotment shares : 2,906,977 9,282
Shares issued into escrow ‘ 398,212 1,388
Balance at March 31, 2005 : 57,010,658 $160,439




International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements,

‘ MarCh 31, 2005

Activity in special warrants:

Special
(in thousands of US$) Warrants Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 ‘ 2,858,000 $ 1478
Exercise of initial financing special warrants (2,550,000) (1,319)
Exercise of compensation special waxrants (308,000) (159)
Balance at March 31, 2005 - $ -
Activity in warrants and stock options was as follows:
Warrants and
(in thousands of US$) stock options Amount
Balance at December 31, 2004 1,940,568 $ 80
Stock options issued 2,850,000 4,651
Balance at March 31, 2005 4,790,568 $4.731

Initial public offering

On February 22, 2005, the Company completed its IPO of 37,790,698 (including the agents’ exercise of
‘ the over-allotment option on March 4, 2005) Common Shares at CA$4.30 per Common Share for gross
proceeds of CA$162.5 million. Gross proceeds received from the TPO and the Unit Offering, and use of

proceeds are outlined as follows:

(in thousands of US$) CAS US$
Gross proceeds from the IPO $162,500 $ 131,659
Gross proceeds from the Unit Offering : 30,000 24,321
Agents’ commission and expenses of offering (16,155) . (13,034)
176,345 142,946
Acquisition of Archean ® (153,024) (124,056)
Funds deposited in escrow (2,475) (2,006)
Net proceeds to the Company § 20,846 $ 16,884

)

@ Includes costs of acquisition.

Stock options

See note 3 “Royalty Interests in Mineral Properties”.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2005, the Company issued 2,850,000 stock options to its directors,
officers and employees. The stock options were at a weighted average exercise price of CA$4.35 per
share and were vested immediately at the time of issuance.



International Royalty Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Finacial Statements

. March 31, 2005

The Company uses the fair value based method of accounting for all stock-based compensation awards.
The fair value of the stock options has been estlmated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with
the following assumptions:

Risk free interest rate 3.6%
Expected dividend yield “ 0.0%
Expected price volatility of the Company’s common

shares 1 60%
Expected life of the option 3.5 years
Weighted average fair value per stock optlon $1.63

Option pricing models require the input of hjghly subjective assumptions including the expected price
volatility. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and
therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value. of the
Company’s stock options. ‘

8 Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

; March 31,
(in thousands of US$) ! 2005
Shares issued for the acquisition of royalty mterests in mineral
properties and for services $30,394
. Shares issued to escrow “ 1,388

9 Subsequent event

On April 19, 2005, the Company completed the purchase of 14 royalties from BHPB (see note 3) for
180,189 Common Shares and $65,000. The shares are subject to a four month hol period expiring
August 19, 2005. An additional 5 royalties were closed on May 2, 2005 for consideration of $510,000.
The acquisition of the three remaining royalties for $30,000 is expected to be completed in the near
future.



. - ™
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 2y =n

International Royalty Corporation fhe “Company or “IRC”) has been prepared based on mforrn oM 1 ;.
available to the Company as of May 9, 2005 and should be read in conjunction with the Company §.
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto as of and for the three months ended March 31,
2005, and in conjunction with the MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2004. All amounts are in U.S.
dollars unless specifically stated otherwise. |

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s annual information form is
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

This document contains certain forward lookipg statements. These statements relate to future events or
future performance and reflect management’s expectations regarding the Company’s growth, results of
operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. Such forward-looking statements reflect
management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management. In some
cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”,

“expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “target” or the
negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. A number of factors could cause actual events or
results to differ materially from the results discussed in various factors, which may cause actual results to
differ materially from any forward-looking statement. Although the forward-looking statements contained
in this management discussion and analysis are based upon what management believes to be reasonable
assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this document, and the
Company assumes no obligation to update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances.

EEIYY LEIYY

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY INFORMATION:

(8 thousands, except per share data) 3 Three months ended
‘ March 31, 2005 March 31, 2004
Statement of Operations :
Royalty revenues £98 $86
Amortization of royalty interest in mineral properties $87 368
Gross profit from royalties $11 $18
General and administrative ‘ $424 $124
Net loss ‘ $(5,226) $(202)
Basic and diluted loss per share $(0.18) $(0.02)
Statement of Cash Flows
Cash provided from (used in) operating activities $54 $(17)
December 31,
March 31, 2005 2004
Balance Sheet ‘
Total assets ] $179,899 $3,502
Shareholders’ Equity * $159,086 $2,758



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Overall
|

The Company’s profile changed dramaticaliy during the first quarter of 2005 with the successful
completion of its initial public offering (“IPO”) on February 22, 2005, raising gross proceeds of
CAS$162,500,000 on the sale of 37,790,698 common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”). The
Company also raised an additional CA$30,000,000 in gross proceeds through the sale of a unit offering (the
“Unit Offering”), consisting of 1,395,360 Common Shares and CA$30,000,000 in senior secured
debentures. The proceeds were used for the indirect acquisition of the Voisey’s Bay royalty and other

royalties as further described in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the three months
ended March 31, 2005, ﬂ

During the first quarter of 2004, all of IRC’s executives and employees were on a part-time basis and/or
were paid reduced salaries in order to preserve our cash resources. In addition, IRC’s directors were paid
no fees during 2004 and professional fees were kept to a minimum, With the completion of the IPO, all
current employees are now being paid their stated salaries, and additional employees have been hired to
accommodate the increased demands of a public company, and to assist the Company in the identification,
assessment and acquisition of new royalty opportunities. We have added new directors, and have begunto
pay our outside directors fees comparabie to those of companies similar to IRC. Professional fees, filing
and listing fees, printing and reproduction cdsts, insurance, and other costs associated with a public
company have all increased as a result of our IPO. In addition, the Company’s larger cash position and
senior secured debentures will result in increased interest income and expense © the Company in the
future. ‘

The net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2005 was $5,226,000 or $0.18 per share compared to a
loss of $202,000 or $0.02 per share for the three months ended March 31, 2004. During February and
March 2005, IRC issued 2,850,000 stock options to its directors, officers and employees, resulting in a
charge of $4,651,000 to stock-based compensation expense during the quarter, compared to $92,000 during
the same period in 2004. General and administrative expenses increased by $300,000 during the three
months ended March 31, 2005, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2004. Legal fees accounted
for $117,000 of the increase, as the company required assistance with its ongoing filing and compliance
requirements, and also the implementation of its sharcholders’ rights plan. Salaries increased by $82,000
due to the full time salaries and larger staff as described above. Other increases included directors’ fees,
$16,000; Insurance expense, $16,000; investor relations $19,000; accounting and other professional fees,
$21,000 and; listing and transfer fees of $10,000. The Company incurred $207,000 of interest expense
during the quarter related to the senior secured debentures, and also had $40,000 of interest income
investment of excess cash and escrowed cash compared to nil in the previous year.

Revenue and operations

During the three months ended March 31, 2005, royalty revenues increased to $8,000 from $86,000,
partially due to an increase in the estimated ounces produced at the Williams mine during the quarter and
also due to an increase in the average price of gold from $408 in 2004 to $427 in 2005.

Amortization is computed based upon the units of production method over the life of the mineral reserves
of the underlying the property. At December 31, 2004, the Williams mine operator adjusted the estimated
reserves of the mine downward by approximately. 18%. from its previous estimate. This will result in an

. increased rate of amortization over the remaining life of the Williams mine royalty and a corresponding
reduction in gross profit from the royalty. Amortization on mineral properties increased from $68,000 in
the three months ended March 31, 2004 to $87,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2005. This was
primarily due to the increased rate of amortization described above and also due to the increase in the
estimated ounces produced at the Williams mine.



FINANCIAL POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating Cash Flow

Cash used in operating activities, before changes to non-cash working capital items was $121,000 during
the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared to $41,000 during the three months ended March 31,
2004. Increase in the uses of cash related ‘to the increase in general and administrative expenses of
$300,000 during 2005 and interest payable of $135,000. These decreases were offset by a foreign currency
gain of $300,000, interest income of $40,000 and increased royalty revenues of $12,000.

Investing Activities

During the first quarter of 2003, IRC acquired the Voisey’s Bay royalty for $149.8 million, and additional
royalty portfolios from John Livermore, Hecla Mining Company and the Hunter Exploration Group for
total consideration of $5.2 million. IRC also invested a total of $2.9 million into restricted cash during the
quarter, including $2.0 million into an interest escrow for the senior secured debentures and $0.9 million in
escrow for the completion of pending royalty acquisitions.

Financing Activities

On February 22, 2005, the Company comp leted its IPO of 37,790,698 (including the exercise of the over-
allotment option on March 4, 2005) Common Shares at CA$4.30 per Common Share for gross proceeds of
CA$162,500,000. Coincident with the IPO, the Company also sold a “Unit Offering” for gross proceeds of
CA$30,000,000. The Unit Offering consisted of CA$30,000,000 of 5.5% senior secured debentures (the
“Debentures”) due February 22, 2011 and 1,395,360 Common Shares. Gross proceeds received and
estimated uses of proceeds are summarized as follows:

($ in thousands) ‘ CAS US$
Gross proceeds from the IPO 162,500 131,659
Gross proceeds from the Unit Offering ‘ 30,000 24,321
Agents’ commission and estimated expenses of offering {16,155) (13,034)
Net proceeds ‘ 176,345 142,946

Cash Resources and Liquidity

The Company had a cash position of $16.9 million at March 31, 2005 and working capital of $18.4 million,
an increase of $16.0 million and $18.2 million respectively from December 31, 2004. The large increase
during the year is a result of the Company’s completion of its IPO and the Unit Offering during the quarter,
reduced by expenditures for the acquisition of the mineral royalties described above.

The Company’s near-term cash requirements are limited to general and administrative expenses. As a
royalty company, there are no requirements for exploration, feasibility, development or capital
expenditures. Royalty acquisitions are discretionary in nature and will be consummated through the use of
cash, as available, or through the issuance of Common Shares.

The Company believes that the funds raised from the IPO and the Unit Offering will be sufficient to cover
the cost of general and administrative expenses for at least the next two years. In addition, the Company
will continue to receive royalty income from the Williams Royalty during the remainder of 2005 and future
years. With the commencement of the Voisey’s Bay mine and the corresponding revenue to be received
from the Voisey’s Bay Royalty, anticipated in early 2006, the Company expects to have sufficient cash
flow to meet all of its cash needs into the foreseeable future.



The Company’s contractual obligations for future payments are summarized as follows:

! Debenture
Minimum Principal and Total

Lease Interest Contractual
Year Obligations Obligations Obligations
(8 in thousands) ‘
2005 3 8 $ 6799 $ 687
2006 . 46 1,358@ 1,404
2007 ‘ 48 1,358 1,406
2008 ‘ 51 1,358 1,409
2009 52 1,358 1,410
Thereafter ‘ 45 26,720 26,765
Total . $250 $32,831 $33,081

“) The obligation is denominated in CA$. All amounts were converted to US$ equivalents

using an exchange rate of US$1.00 to CA$1.2153.
) Under the terms of the Debentures, the first three semi -annual payments were placed in
escrow at the time of closing. -

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates by a material amount,

Management’s estimate of mineral prices, operators’ estimates of proven and probable reserves related to
the underlying royalty properties and operators’ estimates of operating, capital and reclamation costs upon
which the Company relies, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. These estimates affect revenue
recognition, amortization of royalty interests in mineral properties and the assessment of recoverability of
the royalty interests in mineral properties. The éstimated fair values of stock options require the input of
highly subjective assumptions including the expected price volatility. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of the stock options. Although management has
made its best assessment of these factors based upon current conditions, it is possible that changes could
occur, which could materially affect the amounts contained in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company. ;

Royalty Revenue

Royalty revenue is recognized when management can estimate the payable production from mine
operations, when the underlying price is determinable, when collection is reasonably assured and pursuant
to the terms of the royalty agreements. In some instances, the Company will not have access to sufficient
information regarding payable production to make a reasonable estimate of revenue. In these instances,
revenue recognition is deferred until the Company can make a reasonable estimate. In practice,
management has used a rolling average of royalty receipts to estimate future receipts. Since this is not
possible with a new operation, the Company will generaily record revenues on a cash basis for these
operations until sufficient history is available to make a reasonable estimate. Differences between
estimates of royalty revenue and the actual amounts are adjusted and recorded in the period in which the
amounts of the differences are known. For the periods ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2004,
the Company used actual amounts received to record royalty revenue.



Amortization of Royalty Interests in Mineral Properties

Acquisition costs of production and development-stage royalty interests are amortized using the units of
production method over the life of the mineral property, which is estimated using only proven and probable
reserves. Adjustments to payable production from mine operations, as discussed in the paragraph above,
would result in a corresponding adjustment to the amortization of the acquisition costs.

Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverability of the carrying value of royalty
interests in production and development stage mineral properties is evaluated based upon estimated future
undiscounted net cash flows from each royalty interest using available estimates of proven and probable
reserves. ‘

The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of royalty interests in exploration stage
mineral properties in the event of significant decreases in the price of the underlying mineral, and whenever
new information regarding the mineral property is obtained from the operator that could affect the future
recoverability of the royalty interest.

Impairments in the carrying value of each royalfy interest are measured and recorded to the extent that the
carrying value in each royalty interest exceeds its estimated fair value, which is calculated using future
discounted cash flows, in accordance with the new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA™)
Handbook Section 3063 “Impairment of Long-lived Assets”, which the Company adopted effective January
1, 2004. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the comparative consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company has adopted the requirements of CICA Handbook Section 3870
“Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments” whereby the fair value of awards to both

employees and non-employees are recognized as an expense. Compensation expense for options and
warrants granted are determined based on estimated fair values of the options and the warrants at the time
of grant, the cost of which is recognized over the vesting period of the respective options and warrants.

NEW ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Variable Interest Entities

The Company has adopted Accounting Guideliﬂe 15 “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIE)”
effective January 1, 2005, whereby the guideline requires the consolidation of VIE’s by the primary
beneficiary; the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected losses, expected
residual returns, or both. The adoption of Accounting Guideline 15 has not had a material impact on the
Company. i

Deferred financing charges

Financing costs related to the issuance of semor secured debentures are deferred and amortized over the six
year term of the related debt using the effective yield method.

Senior Secured Debentures

The carrying value of the Senior Secured Debentures are being accreted to their maturity value through
charges to interest expense over the term of the Debentures based on the effective yield method.



NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Comprehensive Income

CICA Handbook Section 1530 — Comprehensive Income introduces new standards for reporting and
display of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is the change in equity (new assets) of an
enterprise during a reporting period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner
sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by
owners and distributions to owners.

Section 1530 applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The Company has not yet determined when it will adopt this standard. Financial

statements of prior periods are required to be restated for certain comprehensive income items. In addition,
an enterprise is encouraged, but not required to present reclassification adjustments, in comparative

financial statements provided for earlier periods:

The Company has not yet assessed what impact, if any, adoption of-this statement will have on the
Company’s financial statements. The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement to have a
significant impact on the operations of the Company.

Equity

CICA Handbook Section 3251 — Equity, replacés Section 3250 — Surplus. It establishes standards for the
presentation of equity and changes in equity during a reporting period.

Section 3251 applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after
October 1, 2006. The Company has not yet determined when it will adopt this standard. Financial
statements of prior periods are required to be restated for certain specified items. For all other items,

comparative financial statements presented are not restated, but an adjustment to the openmg balance of
accumulated other comprehensive income may be required.

The Company has not yet assessed what impact, if any, adoption of this statement will have on the
Company’s financial statements. The Company does not expect the adoption of this statement to have a
significant impact on the operations of the Company.

OUTLOOK

The Company does not anticipate any significant changes in its operating results during the remainder of
2005, with the exception of the increase in general and administrative expenses as previously described.

Until the commencement of operations at the Voisey’s Bay mine, expected in early 2006, the Company
does not anticipate significant changes in royalty revenue. Because the Company acquired the shares of
Archean instead of a direct interest in the Voisey’s Bay Royalty, the Company will have no amortizable
basis for Canadian income tax purposes, which may have an adverse impact on the Company’s tax liability
once payments from the Voisey’s Bay Royalty begin. Fluctuations in gold prices and in production output
from the Williams Mine will continue to have an impact on the Company’s royalty revenues in 2005,

The excess proceeds from the IPO have been invested in short-term, interest bearing securities until they
can be utilized for the acquisition of other royalty interests. The interest income from those investments
will be offset by interest expense on the Debentures.



OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

As of May 9, 2005, there were 57,010,658 Common Shares outstanding. In addition there were 2,950,000
director and employee stock options with exercise prices ranging between CA$3.97 and $4.80 per share.
There were also 1,500,000 warrants outstanding, allowing the holders to purchase Common Shares at
CAS$3.00 per share and 440,000 warrants outstanding which allow the holders to purchase Common Shares
at CA$0.80 per share. All warrants expire on February 22, 2007.

RISK FACTORS

The following discussion pertains to the outlook and conditions currently known to management which
could have a material impact on the financial condition and results of the operations of the Company. This
discussion, by its nature, is not all-inclusive. Itis not a guarantee that other factors will or will not affect
the Company in the future.

Fluctuation in Mineral Prices

Mineral prices have fluctuated widely in recent years. The marketability and price of metals, minerals and
gems on properties for which the Company ho]ds royalty interests will be influenced by numerous factors
beyond the control of the Company.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

The Company’s royalty interests are subject to foreign currency fluctuations and inflationary pressures
which may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and results. There can be no assurance that
the steps taken by management to address foreign currency fluctuations will eliminate all adverse effects
and, accordingly, the Company may suffer losses due to adverse foreign currency fluctuations.

Company Valuation Heavily Dependent on V(;)isey’s Bay Royalty

The Company’s valuation is presently heavily weighted with the value of the Voisey’s Bay Royalty. The
Voisey’s Bay Royalty is very material to the Company’s ability to generate revenue. Therefore, the risk
associated with the Company’s valuation is heightened in the event that the Voisey’s Bay property is not
developed and placed into operation according to the currently proposed plan.

Recoverability of Resources and Reserves

The figures provided in connection with reserves and resources in respect of the properties in which the
Company has acquired royalty interests are estimates and no assurance can be given that full recovery of
the anticipated tonnages and grades will be achieved or that any indicated level of recovery will be realized.
The ore actually recovered may differ from the estimated grades of the reserves and resources. Future
production could differ from reserve and resources estimates for, among others, the following reasons:

(a) mineralization or formations could be différent from those predicted by drilling, sampling and similar
examinations;

(b) increases in operating mining costs and processing costs could adversely affect whether the
mineralization remains as a reserve or resource;

(c) the grade of the reserves or resources may vary significantly from time to time and there is no
assurance that any particular level of mineralization will be recovered from the reserves or resources;;

(d) declines in the market prices of metals ‘may render the mining of some or all of the reserves
uneconomic;

(¢) unexpected penalties may be imposed by smelters or refiners; and

(f) the metallurgy may turn out differently than that anticipated.



‘ Form 52-109FT2 - Certification of Interim Filings during Transition Period

1, Ray W. Jenner, Chief Financial Officer of International Royalty Corporation, certify that:

1. I have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) of International
Royalty Corporation (the issuer) for the interim period ending March 31, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as of the date
and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

DATED this 16™ day of May, 2005.

“Ray W. Jenner"
Ray W. Jenner
Chief Financial Officer




‘ Form 52-109FT2 - Certification of Interim Filings during Transition Period

I, Douglas B. Silver, Chief Executive Officer of International Royalty Corporation, certify that:

1. T have reviewed the interim filings (as this term is defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) of International
Royalty Corporation (the issuer) for the interim period ending March 31, 2005;

2. Based on my knowledge, the interim filings do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to
make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was made,
with respect to the period covered by the interim filings; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the interim financial statements together with the other
financial information included in the interim filings fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer, as of the date
and for the periods presented in the interim filings.

DATED this 16" day of May, 2005.

“Douglas B. Silver”
Douglas B. Silver
Chief Executive Officer
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‘ The Toronto Stock Exchange :

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:
Re: International Royalty Corporafion
As counsel to International Royalty Corporation (the “Corporation™), we wish to advise

you of the following dates in connection with the Corporation’s Annual and Special
Meeting of Shareholders:

Date Of Meeting: ‘ May 26, 2005
Record Date For Notice: ‘ April 25, 2005
Record Date For Voting: j April 25, 2005
Beneficial Ownership Determination Date: April 25, 2005
Classes or Series of Securities that entitle the
holder to receive Notice of the Meeting: Common Shares
Classes or Series of Securities that entitle the

‘ holder to vote at the meeting: ' Common Shares
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Routine Business Only: No
CUSIP: 5 460277

Should you require any further information in connection with the foregoing, please call
the undersigned. :

Yours truly,
FASKEN MARTINEAU DuMOULIN LLP
“Nancy Eastman”

Nancy Eastman

NE/nl

cc: Douglas B. Silver, International Royalty Corporation



INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

NOTICE OF ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
May 26, 2005

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual and special meeting (the ‘‘Meeting’’) of the shareholders of
International Royalty Corporation (the ‘‘Company’’) will be held at the Gallery Room at the TSX Broadcast and
Conference Centre, the Exchange Tower, 130 King" Street West, Toronto, Ontario on Thursday, the 26th day of
May, 2005, at the hour of 9:00 a.m. (Toronto time) for the following purposes:

1.

receiving the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31,
2004 and the auditor’s report thereon; ‘

appointing the auditors for the ensuing year and authorizing the directors to fix their remuneration;
electing directors for the ensuing year;

considering, and if thought appropriate, passing, with or without amendment, an ordinary resolution to
approve the Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement;

considering, and if thought appropriate, passing, with or without amendment, an ordinary resolution to
approve an amended and restated Stock Option Plan; and

transacting such further or other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment or
adjournments thereof. ‘

A copy of the Management Information Circular and a form of proxy for the Meeting accompany this notice. A
copy of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2004 and
the auditor’s report thereon, together with management’s discussion and analysis, are contained in the Company’s
annual report. i

Shareholders who are unable to be present in person at the Meeting are requested to sign, date and deliver

. the accompanying form of proxy to the Company’s registrar and transfer agent CIBC Mellon Trust Company, either
by using the enclosed return evelope or by mail or hand delivery at 200 Queen’s Quay East, Unit 6, Toronto ON

MS35A 4K9 or by fax at (416) 368-2502 so it is received on or before 9:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the second business

day preceding the Meeting or 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before any adjournment of the

Meeting.

DATED at Toronto, Ontario, this 26th day of April, 2Q05.

By Order of the Board of Directors,
INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

s Gl

DoucLAs B. SILVER
Chief Executive Officer



INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION
PROXY FOR ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF MANAGEMENT

The undersigned shareholder of International! Royalty Corporation (the ‘‘Corporation’”) hereby appoints

Douglas B. Silver, Chief Executive Officer, of failing him, Douglas J. Hurst, President, or instead,

as nominee of the undersigned, with power of substitution, to attend,

act for and vote on behalf of the undersigned at the Annual and Special Meeting of the shareholders of the
Corporation to be held on Thursday, May 26, 2005 and at any adjournment(s) thereof and without limiting the
general authority and power hereby given to such nominee, the common shares represented by this proxy are
specifically directed to be voted as indicated on the reverse side of this proxy.

1.

89

FOR [] WITHHOLD VOTE [7] For theelection of directors nominated by management as set forth in
the accompanying Management Information Circular.
|

FOR [] WITHHOLD VOTE [] For the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered
Accountants, as the auditors of the Corporation and authorizing the directors of the Corporation to fix their
remuneration.

FOR [] AGAINST [] For the approval of the Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement.
FOR [] AGAINST [] For the approval of an amended and restated Stock Option Plan.

This proxy will be voled and where a choice is specified, will be voted
as directed. Where no choice is specified, this proxy will confer
discretionary authority and will be voted in favour of the matters
referred to on the reverse side hereof.

This proxy also confers discretionary authority to vote in respect
of any other matter which may properly come before the meeting
and in such manner as such nominee in his judgement may
determine.

A shareholder has the right to appoint a person to attend and act
for him or her and on his or her behalf at the meeting other than
the pei'sons designated in this form of proxy. Such right may be
exercised by filling the name of such person in the blank space
provided and striking out the names of management’s nominees
above.

This proxy revokes and supercedes all proxies of any earlier date.

THIS PROXY MUST BE DATED

DATED this —_ day of 2005.

Signature of Shareholder

Name of Shareholder (prins)

Number of Shares

(See Over)



Notes: .
{1) A person appointed as nominee to represent a shareholder need not be a sharcholder.

(2)  This proxy must be signed and dated by the shareholder or the shareholder’s attorney authorized in writing. If a shareholder is a corporation
this proxy must be signed under its corporate seal or by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized.

(3) If this proxy is not dated, it will be deemed to bear the date dn which it is mailed to the shareholder.



TO:

INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

(the i“Company”)
SUPPLEMENTAL MAILING LIST RETURN CARD
Registered and Non-Registered Shareholders |

National Instruments 54-101 and 51-102 provides shareholders with the opportunity to elect annually to have
their name added to the Company’s supplemental mailing list in order to receive annual and/or quarterly financial
statements of the Company, together with its management discussion and analysis (""‘MD&A’’). If you wish to
receive such statements, please complete and return this form to:

INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION
c/o CIBC Mellon Trust Company
200 Queen’s Quay East, Unit 6
Toronto, Ontario
MSA 4K9

I wish to receive the Company’s annual financial statements and MD&A.

I wish to receive the Company’s interim financial statements and MD&A.

PLEASE PRINT NAME OF SHAREHOLDER

MAILING ADDRESS

CITY/TOWN

PROVINCE/STATE POSTAL CODE

I understand that these statements will be mailed to me until the Company’s next annual meeting of Shareholders,

when a new request will be submitted by me if so desired.

SIGNATURE:

BY SIGNING BELOW, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CERTIFIES TO BE A SHAREHOLDER OF THE
COMPANY. %

DATE:

SIGNATURE OF SHAREHOLDER
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INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

NOTICE OF ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
May 26, 2005

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual and special meeting (the ‘‘Meeting’’) of the shareholders of
International Royalty Corporation (the ‘‘Company’”) will be held at the Gallery Room at the TSX Broadcast and
Conference Centre, the Exchange Tower, 130 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario on Thursday, the 26th day of
May, 2005, at the hour of 9:00 a.m. (Toronto time) for the following purposes:

1. receiving the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31,
2004 and the auditor’s report thereon;

2. appointing the auditors for the ensuing year and authorizing the directors to fix their remuneration;
3. electing directors for the ensuing year;

4. considering, and if thought appropriate, passing, with or without amendment, an ordinary resolution to
approve the Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement;

5. considering, and if thought appropriate, passing, with or without amendment, an ordinary resolution to
approve an amended and restated Stock Option Plan; and

6. transacting such further or other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment or
adjournments thereof.

A copy of the Management Information Circular and a form of proxy for the Meeting accompany this notice. A
copy of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2004 and
the auditor’s report thereon, together with management’s discussion and analysis, are contained in the Company’s
annual report. 1

Shareholders who are unable to be present in person at the Meeting are requested to sign, date and deliver
‘ the accompanying form of proxy to the Company’s registrar and transfer agent CIBC Mellon Trust Company, either
by using the enclosed return evelope or by mail or hand delivery at 200 Queen’s Quay East, Unit 6, Toronto ON
MS5A 4K9 or by fax at (416) 368-2502 so it is received on or before 9:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the second business
day preceding the Meeting or 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before any adjournment of the
Meeting.

DATED at Toronto, Ontario, this 26th day of April, 2005.

By Order of the Board of Directors,
INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

s Bl

DoucGLas B. SILVER
Chief Executive Officer



INTERNATIONAL ROYALTY CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR
SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

This Management Information Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the
management of International Royalty Corporation (the *‘Company’’) to be used at the Annual and Special Meeting of
the holders of common shares of the Company (the :‘Common Shares’’) to be held on Thursday, May 26, 2005 at
9:00 a.m. (Toronto time) (the ‘‘Meeting’’) at the TSX Broadcast and Conference Centre, The Exchange Tower,
130 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof for the purposes set out in the
accompanying Notice of Meeting. In addition to soli¢itation by mail, certain officers, directors and employees of the
Company may solicit proxies by telephone, electronic mail, telecopier or personally. These persons will receive no
compensation for such solicitation other than their regular fees or salaries. The cost of solicitation by management will
be borne directly by the Company. The head office of the Company is located at 10 Inverness Drive East, Suite 104,
Englewood, Colorado, U.S.A. The registered office of the Company is located at 66 Wellington Street West,
Suite 4200, Toronto, Ontario.

All currency amounts in this Management Information Circular are stated in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise
indicated.

VOTING IN PERSON AT THE MEETING

A registered shareholder, or a non-objecting beneficial owner (‘‘NOBO’’) whose name has been provided to the
Company’s registrar and transfer agent, CIBC Melloﬁ Trust Company, will appear on a list of shareholders prepared
by the registrar transfer agent for purposes of the Meeting. To vote in person at the Meeting each registered shareholder
or NOBO will be required to register for the Meeting by identifying themselves at the registration desk. Non-registered
beneficial shareholders {other than NOBOs) must appoint themselves as proxyholder to vote in person at the Meeting.
Also see ‘‘Non-Registered Holders’” below.

VOTING BY PROXY AT THE MEETING

If a registered shareholder or NOBO cannot attend the Meeting but wishes to vote on the resolutions, the
registered shareholder or NOBO should sign, date and deliver the enclosed form of proxy to the Company’s registrar
and transfer agent, CIBC Mellon Trust Company, either by using the enclosed return evelope or by mail or hand
delivery at 200 Queen’s Quay East, Unit 6, Toronto ON M5A 4K9 or by fax at (416) 368-2502 so it is received on or
before 9:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the second business day preceding the Meeting or 48 hours (excluding Saturdays,
Sundays and holidays) before any adjournment of the:Meeting. The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy
are directors and/or officers of the Company. A shareholder giving a proxy can strike out the names of the
nominees printed in the accompanying form of proxy and insert the name of another nominee in the space
provided, or the shareholder may complete another form of proxy. A proxy nominee need not be a shareholder
of the Company. A shareholder giving a proxy has the right to attend the Meeting, or appoint someone else to attend
as his or her proxy at the Meeting and the proxy submitted earlier can be revoked in the manner described below
under ‘‘Revocation of Proxies’’.

HOW PROXY WILL BE VOTED

The Common Shares represented by a properly executed proxy will be voted or withheld from voting in
accordance with the directions given in the proxy. If the shareholder giving the proxy wishes to confer a discretionary
authority with respect to any item of business, then the space opposite the item must be left blank. If no choice is
specified in the proxy, and the nominee is proposed by management, the nominee will vote the Common Shares
represented by the proxy in favour of each item left blank. The enclosed form of proxy confers discretionary
authority upon the persons named in the proxy. The discretionary authority so granted may be exercised with respect
to amendments or variations to matters which may properly come before the Meeting, unless the shareholder deletes
the discretionary authority from the proxy. As at the date of this Management Information Circular, management of
the Corporation is not aware of any such amendment or variation or any other matter to come before the Meeting
other than those referred to in the accompanying Notice of Meeting. However, if any other matters that are not now
known to management should properly come before the Meeting, the Common Shares represented by proxies given in
favour of management nominees will be voted on such matters in accordance with the best judgment of such nominees.

1



REVOCATION OF PROXIES

A shareholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it. Such revocation may be made by the shareholder
attending the Meeting, by fully executing another form of proxy bearing a later date and duly depositing the same
before the specified time, or by written instrument revoking such proxy duly executed by the sharcholder or his or her
attorney authorized in writing or, if the shareholder is a body corporate, under its corporate seal or by an officer or
attorney thereof, duly authorized, and deposited either at the registered office of the Company at 66 Wellington Street
West, Suite 4200, Toronto, Ontario Attention: Nancy Eastman, at any time up to and including the last business day
preceding the date of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof, or with the Chairman of the Meeting on the day of the
Meeting or any adjournment thereof. Such instrument will not be effective with respect to any matter on which a vote
has already been cast pursuant to such proxy.

NON-REGISTERED HOLDERS

In many cases, Common Shares beneficially owned by a holder (a ‘‘Non-Registered Holder’’) are registered
either:

(a) in the name of an intermediary that the Non-Registered Holder deals with in respect of the Common Shares.
Intermediaries include banks, trust companies, securities dealers or brokers, and trustees or administrators of
self-administered RRSPs, RRIFs, RESPs and similar plans; or

(b) in the name of a depository (such as The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited or “*CDS"’).
Non-Registered Holders do not appear on the list of shareholders of the Company maintained by the transfer
agent. |

In accordance with Canadian securities law, the, Company has distributed copies of the Notice of Meeting, this
Management Information Circular and the form of proxy (collectively, the ‘‘meeting materials’”) to CDS and
intermediaries for onward distribution toc Non-Registered Holders.

Intermediaries are required to forward meeting ;materials to Non-Registered Holders unless a Non-Registered
Holder has waived the right to receive them. Typically, intermediaries will use a service company to forward the
meeting materials to Non-Registered Holders. |

Non-Registered Holders, other than NOBOs, will receive either a voting instruction form or, less frequently, a
form of proxy. The purpose of these forms is to permit Non-Registered Holders to direct the voting of the Common
Shares they beneficially own. Non-Registered Holders should follow the procedures set out below, depending on which
type of form they receive.

A. Voting Instruction Form. In most cases, a Non-Registered Holder will réeceive, as part of the meeting
materials, a voting instruction form. If the Non-Registered Holder does not wish to attend and vote at the
Meeting in person (or have another person-attend and vote on the holder’s behalf), the voting instruction
form must be completed, signed and returned in accordance with the directions on the form. If a Non-
Registered Holder wishes to attend and vote at the Meeting in person (or have another person attend and
vote on the Holder’s behalf), the Non-Registered Holder must complete, sign and return the voting
instruction form in accordance with the diréctions provided and a form of proxy giving the right to attend
and vote will be forwarded to the Non-Registered Holder.

or

B. Form of Proxy. Less frequently, a Non-Registered Holder will receive, as part of the meeting materials, a
form of proxy that has already been signed by the intermediary (typically by a facsimile, stamped signature)
which is restricted as to the number of shares beneficially owned by the Non-Registered Holder but which is
otherwise uncompleted. If the Non-Registered Holder does not wish to attend and vote at the Meeting in
person (or have another person attend and vote on the holder’s behalf), the Non-Registered Holder must
complete the form of proxy and deposit it with the Company’s registrar and transfer agent, CIBC Mellon
Trust Company, 200 Queen’s Quay East, Unit 6, Toronte Ontario, Canada M5A 4K9, as described above. If
a Non-Registered Holder wishes to attend and vote at the Meeting in person (or have another person attend
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and vote on the holder’s behalf), the Non-REgistered Holder must strike out the names of the persons named
m the proxy and insert the Non-Registered Holder’s (or such other person’s) nmame in the blank space
provided. ;

Non-Registered Holders should follow the instructions on the forms they receive and contact their
intermediaries promptly if they need assistance.

INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON

No person who was a director or executive officer of the Company at any lime since the beginning of the
Company’s last financial year has had any interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of securities or
otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon other than the election of directors, the Company’s stock option plan or the
Company’s shareholder rights plan agreement. The only material interest that such officer or director will have in
connection with the shareholder rights plan agreement will be the same as all other shareholders on a pro rata basis.

VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

The Company has an authorized capital consisting of an unlimited number of Common Shares. As of the date
hereof, there are 57,010,658 Common Shares issued and outstanding.

Each holder of Common Shares (each a “*Shareholder’’ and, collectively ‘‘Shareholders’’) is entitled to one
vote for each Common Share. The directors have fixed the close of business on April 25, 2005 as the record date for
the Meeting. Accordingly, only Shareholders of record as at the close of business on April 25, 2005 are entitled to
receive notice of and to attend and vote at the Meeting except that a transferee of Common Shares acquired after that
date shall be entitled to vote at the Meeting if such transferee produces properly endorsed certificates for such Common
Shares or otherwise establishes ownership of such Common Shares and has demanded not later than 10 days before
the Meeting that the name of such transferee be included on the list of Shareholders entitled to vote at the Meeting.

As at the date of this Management Information’ Circular, to the knowledge of the directors and officers of the
Company, the following are the only persons who beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or
direction over, securities of the Company carrying 'more than 10% of the voting rights attached to any class of
outstanding voting securities of the Company ent